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conjunction with the late Dr. Rendle. The result
first appeared in a volume on the inns of that early
settled district, which was issued in a limited edition,
and has long been out of print. On the old houses
in the City and west end he wrote and illustrated
two articles for the Lnglish Illustrated Magazine,
when it was so admirably conducted under the
ownership of Messrs. Macmillan, and a third during
the reign of Messrs. Ingram. On other City subjects,
which here occupy his attention, he has written
in the publications of the Society of Antiquaries,
and of the Surrey Archeaological Society, also for
the Burlington Magazine, and the Home Counties
Magazine, known in its earlier days as Middlesex
and Hertfordshire Notes and Queries.

To Sir Caspar Purdon Clarke, C.I.E., and others
who have been, or are, connected with the Board of
Education, he tenders his hearty thanks for per-
mission to reproduce the water-colour drawings by
him which for the present at least have found a
home in the Bethnal Green Museum, and for their
kindly help in other respects. He is also grateful
to the authorities of the Art Gallery, Guildhall, to
the Hon. W. F. D. Smith, M.P., to Miss Jones,
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on this side, and there was doubtless a causeway
leading over the partially reclaimed land in the
direction of the south-east coast, from a ferry
which we may assume to have been replaced by a
bridge during the Roman occupation, for, although
no Roman foundations have come to light, the
discovery of thousands of coins, dating from the
time of Augustus to that of Honorius, and of
many objects of Roman art, in the bed of the
river along the site of the old London Bridge,
almost puts the matter beyond a doubt. Some
writers, on the strength of a statement by Ptolemy
the geographer that London was in the region of
the Cantii, have assumed that Southwark was the
town originally settled, but, apart from other con-
siderations, this, from the nature of the ground,
is highly improbable.

In medieval times the road through Southwark
had an importance peculiarly its own, not only as
the chief thoroughfare for purposes of business
and pleasure between London, the south-eastern
counties, and the Continent, but because during
many generations it was worn by pilgrims travel-
ling to and from the shrine of the most popular
of English saints—the ‘holy, blissful martyr,”
Thomas a Becket. Again, for whatever purpose a
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journey might be undertaken, it must undoubtedly
have been convenient to make a start from outside
the City walls. Thus, when the great religious
establishments and lay owners of important houses
no longer bore the chief burden of hospitality, and
public inns had become common, what is now
usually called the Borough High Street was occu-
pied by them in number out of all proportion to
ordinary shops and dwellings. John Stow, the early
historian of London, in his Survey (1598), implies
as much. Beginning at the Marshalsea Prison,
which was only about a quarter of a mile from the
Thames, on the east side of the Borough High
Street, he says: “From thence towards London
Bridge on the same side be many fair inns for the
receipt of travellers, by these signs, the Spurre,
Christopher, Bull, Queen’s Head, Tabard, George,
Hart, King’s Head, etc.” He wrote, it is true,
in Protestant times, but these houses, standing
close together, had then been long established,
and most of them continued to exist as coaching
and carriers’ inns until by the advent of railways the
whole conditions of life were gradually changed.
Of the inns appearing in the above list, five at
least have something of historic interest. We
will begin with the Tabard, which was one of the
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the year 1804 the Abbot and Convent of Hyde,
near Winchester, purchased here from William de
Lategareshall two houses held of the Archbishop
of Canterbury. On this site the abbot built for
himself a town dwelling, and at the same time,
it is believed, a hostelry for the convenience of
travellers. In 1807 he obtained licence from the
Bishop of Winchester to build a chapel at or by
the inn. In a later deed occur the following
words : “The Abbott’s lodgeinge was wyninge to
the backside of the inn called the Tabarde, and had
a garden attached.” Stow describes it as “a fair
house for him and his train when he came to that
city to Parliament.” It should be borne in mind
that at this period, and for centuries afterwards, the
roads of London and its suburbs being sometimes
almost impassable, the Thames supplied the most
convenient means of communication between places
by its banks. Hence it came about that the great
ecclesiastics almost always had their town dwellings
not far from the river, and that Southwark was
peculiarly favoured by them, for besides the Palace
of the Bishops of Winchester and Rochester
House, there were the hostelries of the Abbots
of Hyde, Battle, Waverley, and St. Augustine,
and of the Prior of Lewes, all near together, and
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within easy access of the “silent highway.” Lay
people of the highest rank also made their homes
in Southwark from time to time, before fashion
moved west.

An early notice of the Tabard Inn ocecurs in
one of the Rolls of Parliament, dated 1381, where,
in a list of people who had been connected with
Jack Cade’s rebellion, one finds the name of “John
Brewersman ” staying at the « Tabbard.” <«Jockey
of Norfolk,” who died at Bosworth, fighting in the
vanguard for Richard IIIL., was a frequenter of
Southwark when still Sir John Howard, and knew
our inn well. He called there, April 18, 1469,
and doubtless on other occasions, as we learn from
a volume on the Manners and Household Expenses
of England, published by the Roxburghe Club.

A lease of the Tabard before the dissolution has
lately been found and printed with notes by the
writer. Its chief interest lies in the enumeration of
the rooms and their fixtures, given in the schedule,
which may not unlikely represent the house much
as it was in Chaucer’s time. The rooms have names,
such as the “Rose parlar,” the “ Clyff parlar,” the
“ Crowne chamber,” the “ Keye chamber,” and the
“Corne chamber,” reminding one of similar names
used by Elizabethan dramatists. Thus in Shake-
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speare’s 1 King Henry IV. Act ii. Scene 4,
mention is made of the ‘“Half Moon” and the
‘“ Pomegranate ” at the Boar’s Head Tavern, East-
cheap. In the London Chaunticleres, 1659, the
tapster of an inn thus describes his morning’s
work: “I have cut two dozen of toste, broacht
a new barrell of ale, washt all the cups and
flaggons, made a fire i’ th’ George, drained all the
beer out of th’ Half Moon the company left o’
th’ floore last night, wip’d down all the tables, and
have swept every room.”

At the Dissolution the Tabard, with other
possessions of Abbot Salcote or Capon, was sur-
rendered and granted by the King to Thomas and
John Master. The sign of the Tabard (a sleeve-
less coat, like that worn by heralds) was used until
about the end of the sixteenth century, when it was
little by little changed to Talbot, perhaps through
fancy or carelessness. According to Aubrey, ¢the
ignorant landlord or tenant, instead of the ancient
sign of the Tabard,” put up *“the Talbot, a species
of dog.” Be this as it may, in certain Chancery
proceedings of June 27, 1599, both names are
used. About this time there were large additions
to the building. Speght says in his second edition
of Chaucer (1602): *“Whereas through time it
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merchant, the late Mr. Evans, who occupied rooms
at the George Inn Yard, where he resided.

The inn which we will now attempt to describe
was situated a short distance to the north of the
Tabard, also on the east side of the Borough High
Street, and from the purely historical point of
view it even exceeded in interest that famous
hostelry. All the Southwark inns, like those
on the opposite side of the Thames, which were
plentiful in the City and along the chief thorough-
fares leading to it, had been built more or less on
a similar plan. An old-fashioned house usually
faced the street, with an archway beneath, the gate
of which was closed at night. Passing through
this archway one entered a yard, round which ran
the galleries containing bedrooms, where the guests
were lodged. In this outer yard, as we know
from historical evidence, theatrical pieces were
occasionally played, but no Southwark inn is con-
nected by name with such performance, except
during the annual fair, in comparatively modern
times. Beyond the first enclosure was a larger
yard, with offices, ample stabling, and usually
various tenements.

The White Hart was perhaps the largest

Southwark inn, and appears to have dated from
2
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the latter part of the fourteenth century, the sign
being a badge of Richard II., derived from his
mother, Joan of Kent. In the summer of 1450
it was Jack Cade’s headquarters while he was
striving to gain possession of London. Hall, in
his Chronicle, thus speaks of him: “The capitayn
being advertized of the kynge's absence came first
into Southwarke, and there lodged at the White
Hart, prohibiting to all men murder, rape, or
robbery ; by which colour he allured to him the
hartes of the common people.” However, it must
have been by his order, if not in his presence,
that “at the Whyt harte in Southwarke, one
Hawaydyne of sent Martyns was beheaded,” as
we are told in the Chronicle of the Grey Friars of
London. Sir John Fastolf, who, although he must
have furnished a name to Shakespeare’s Falstaff,
had nothing else in common with him, owned an
important dwelling-house and much property in
Southwark. At the same inn, during this out-
break, Sir John’s servant, Payn, was grievously
maltreated, being saved from instant assassination
by Robert Poynings, a man of note, who had
thrown in his lot with the rebels, and was Jack
Cade’s carver and sword-bearer. Payn’s property,
however, was pillaged, his wife and children were
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threatened, and she left with “no more gode but
her kyrtyll and her smook.” Besides, he was
thrust into the forefront of a fight then raging
on London Bridge, where he was ‘“woundyd and
hurt nere hand to death.” Cade’s success was of
short duration, his followers wavered ; he said, or
might have said, in the words attributed to him by
Shakespeare (2 Henry V1. Activ. Scene 8), «“ Hath
my sword therefore broken through London gates,
that you should leave me at the White Hart in
Southwark 2” The outbreak collapsed, and our
inn is not heard of for some generations.

In 1529 a message was sent to Thomas Crom-
well, the notorious minister of Henry VIII., by
some one asking for an interview at the White
Hart. Twenty years afterwards Sheffield iron was
stored here, and sold at £8:12s. a ton. In 1637
it is noted as a famous house of call for carriers
to and from various towns in Kent and Surrey.
About this time churchwardens used to visit the
various inns of the borough and report those
where drinking went on during divine service;
the White Hart, the George, the King’s Head,
the Queen’s Head, and others were in their black
list. John Taylor, the ‘“water-poet,” who must
have known the White Hart well, as he lived in
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Southwark for some years, strings together the
following rhymes about it—the result, perhaps, of
personal experience :—

Although these Harts doe never run away,

They’ll tire a man to hunt them every day;

The Game and Chase is good for Recreation,
But dangerous to mak’t an occupation.

In 1669 the back of the inn was burnt down,
and in repairing the damage the landlord, Geary,
“to his undoing” spent £700. On May 26, 1676,
occurred the terrible fire already alluded to; the
White Hart was quite destroyed ; but it was rebuilt
shortly afterwards on the old foundations, at a
cost of £2400, Geary again providing the money
with the aid of his friends. The owner, John
Collett, gives him a sixty-one years’ lease, with an
annual rent of £55. In 1720 Strype describes it
as very large and of a considerable trade, being
esteemed one of the best inns in Southwark, and
it so continued until the early years of the present
century. Charles Dickens, in the tenth chapter
of Pickwick, has given us the following graphic
description of the house when something of its old
prosperity still clung to it :—

“In the Borough especially, there still remain
some half-dozen old inns which have preserved
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their external features unchanged, and which have
escaped alike the rage for public improvement and
the encroachments of private speculation. Great,
rambling, queer old places they are, with galleries,
and passages, and staircases, wide enough and anti-
quated enough to furnish material for a hundred
ghost stories. It was in the yard of one of these
inns—of no less celebrated a one than the White
Hart—that a man was busily employed in brush-
ing the dirt off a pair of boots, early on the
morning succeeding the events narrated in the last
chapter. The yard presented none of that bustle
and activity which are the usual characteristics of a
large coach inn. Three or four lumbering wagons,
each with a pile of goods beneath its ample canopy,
about the height of a second-floor window of an
ordinary house, were stowed away beneath a lofty
roof, which extended over one end of the yard;
and another, whi¢h was probably to commence its
journey that morning, was drawn out into the open
space. A double tier of bedroom galleries, with
old clumsy balustrades, ran round two sides of the
straggling area, and a double row of bells to corre-
spond, sheltered from the weather by a little sloping
roof, hung over the door looking to the bar and
coffee-room. Two or three gigs and chaise-carts
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crowded with lodgers. From hence, looking back,
one often saw the smoke of the bacon-curer’s
furnaces picturesquely curling out of the windows
of the main building. Here, too, every afternoon,
might be seen a solitary omnibus which plied to
Clapham, the last descendant of the old coaches.
The accompanying illustrations of this inn were
painted in 1884. In the early autumn of that
year these various lodgers had notice to quit; but
the remains of the old White Hart Inn were not
pulled down until July 1889. Since then hop
factor’s offices have been built on the site, the
yard being very much curtailed. The modern
tavern on the south side still remains, but was
closed when the writer last saw it in July 1904.
Between the Tabard and the White Hart was
the George, another of the *fair inns” noted by
Stow in 1598. 'The exact date of its erection has
not been found out, but it is mentioned as the
St. George in 1554—*St. George that swinged the
Dragon, and sits on horseback at mine hostess’
door.” By 1558, however, the ““Saint ” is omitted,
for Humfrey Colet, who had been Member of
Parliament for Southwark, mentions in his will
that he owns the George, “now in the tenure of
Nicholas Martin, Hosteler.” In 1634 a return was
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In 1670 the George was partly burnt, and it was
totally destroyed in the Southwark fire of 1676.

A story has been told of the sixth Lord Digby,
who succeeded to the peerage in 1752, which is
perhaps worth repeating here. It is said that at
Christmas and Easter he appeared very grave, and
though usually well dressed was then in the habit
of putting on a shabby blue coat. This excited
the curiosity of Mr. Fox, his uncle, who had him
watched, when it was discovered that twice a year,
or oftener, he was in the habit of going to the
Marshalsea Prison and freeing prisoners there. The
next time the almsgiving coat appeared a friend
boldly asked him why he wore it. By way of reply
Lord Digby took the gentleman to the George Inn,
where seated at dinner were thirty people, whom
his Lordship had just released from the neighbour-
ing Marshalsea by payment of their debts in full.

In 1825 the George is reported in guide-book
language as “a good commercial inn—whence
several coaches and many waggons depart laden
with the merchandise of the metropolis, in return
for which they bring back from various parts of
Kent, etc., that staple article of the country, the
hop, to which we are indebted for the good quality

of the London porter.”
3
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After being for a time in the hands of Guy's
Hospital it was sold about thirty years ago to the
Great Northern Railway Company. Only a frag-
ment of it, but a picturesque one, remains, that
part which appears to the right of our illustration.
The rest of the building was pulled down in 1889
or shortly afterwards. The interior of the coffee-
room on the ground floor still retains its old-
fashioned look. On the opposite side of the yard
was a dining-room, where, until the time of its
destruction, a few friends used to meet under the
title of the Four-o’clock Club, though latterly they
dined at half-past six or seven. Mr. J. Ashby-
Sterry, who has written so charmingly on old
London, and on most things connected with
Dickens, is convinced that the George and not
the White Hart was really the place where Mr.
Pickwick first met the incomparable Sam. In the
Bystander (1901) he gives his reasons, and doubtless
the description might apply to either fabric. The
writer would add that he once asked the late
Charles Dickens junior his opinion on this point ;
his reply was that he had never heard anything
from his father to support the suggestion.

Next to the Tabard, on the south side; was the
Queen’s Head, another of the inns mentioned by
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Thomas,” which apparently he had bought of
Thomas Lovell. The change of title from Cross
Keys to Queen’s Head probably took place about
1635-37, when, by the way, the house was fre-
quented by carriers from Portsmouth, Rye, God-
stone, Lamberhurst, and other places. Its owner
for that short time was John Harvard or Harvye,
son of a Southwark butcher carrying on business
in the High Street. He had graduated at
Emmanuel College, Cambridge, and in the latter
year sailed for America, where he died in September
1638, leaving by will half his estate, together with
his library of 320 volumes, to a proposed college,
which came into being shortly afterwards, and
is now known as Harvard College, Cambridge,
Massachusetts, of which he is looked upon as
the principal founder. He had inherited the
Queen’s Head Inn from his mother, who was
twice married after the death of his father,
Robert Harvard. - Her third husband was Richard
Yearwood or Yarwood, Member of Parliament
for Southwark.

The Queen’s Head appears to have escaped the
great Southwark fire of 1676, perhaps owing to
the fact that by way of precaution a tenement
was blown up with gunpowder at the gateway.
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In 1691 it is thus mentioned in that scarce tract
called “The Last Search after Claret in South-
wark, or a Visitation of the Vintners in the
Mint " :—
To the Queen’s-head we hastened, and found the House ring,
By Broom-men a singing old Simon the King ;

Besides at the bar we perceived a poor Trooper
Was cursing his master and calling him Cooper.

A writer in 1855 says: “The Queen’s Head
has not changed much, the premises are very
spacious—the north part, where the galleries still
remain, is now used by a hop merchant.” These
galleries were latterly in part let out as tenements
—the beginning of the end. For many years, from
1848 onwards, the landlord of the inn was Robert
Wi llsher, a cousin of the famous Kentish bowler
of that name. In 1868 a team of Australian
aboriginal cricketers came over to England, and
made their headquarters here; one of them nick-
named “ King Cole” died of consumption in Guy’s
Hospital. These aborigines must not be confused
with the splendid teams that visit us nowadays.
They were black fellows from the province of
Victoria, trained by C. Laurence, an Englishman.
They played very fairly, and also gave exhibitions
of boomerang throwing, etc. One of them, as we
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scarcely have been here, because this was one of
the inns changing their names about the time of
the Reformation, or as the result of the altered
conditions which that event produced. It has been
seen how, as late as the seventeenth century, the
Cross Keys secularised its sign, adopting doubtless
the head of Queén Elizabeth. In making this
change the owner or landlord followed an example
set him about a century before at the inn now
in question. Among other ecclesiastics who lodged
in Southwark not the least important was the
Abbot of Waverley, near Farnham, the earliest
house of the Cistercian order in England, founded
in 1128, by William Giffard, Bishop of Winchester.
In 1534 the Abbot, still apparently at his town
dwelling near the river, wrote arranging an inter-
view “at the Pope’s Head in Southwark.” This
was the very year of the separation of the
Church of England from Papal héadship. About
eight years afterwards our inn is marked in
a Record Office map as the *“Kynges Hed.”
In some deeds very kindly lent to the writer
many years ago by Mr. G. Eliot Hodgkin,
F.S.A., the famous collector, whose family for
some generations possessed the property, many
interesting points appear. The first, which is in
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the curious law Latin of the time, is dated 1559,
and shows John Gresham, who had been Mayor
of London in 1547, and John White, Mayor in
1563, agreeing to pay a certain sum of money to
Thomas Cure, the saddler, M.P. and benefactor
of Southwark, for the inn “formerly known as
the Popes hed, now as le Kynges hed, abutting
on the highway called Longe Southwarke.”

In 1588 the property passes to the Humbles, a
well-known Southwark family. In the will, dated
December 1604, of Anthony Fawkes of South-
wark, citizen and clothworker, is the following
clause :—*“To my son Richard Fawkes and his
heirs my dwelling house, called the Kynge Heade,
with all the brewing vessels pertaining to the
brewhouse—suffering my now wife, Jane, to dwell
there during her widowhood.” Whether this was
the same house is a question, for in 1647 our inn
belonged to Humble, first Lord Ward, ancestor of
the present Earl of Dudley. One of the tenants
at this time was described as ¢« William le pewterer,”
a proof that, as in the case of most of the larger
inns, there were tenements within the precinct in
which trades were carried on. Provision is made
that the various tenants shall have access to the

pump and other conveniences at all reasonable
4
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illustration was done nearly two years earlier, the
house being then occupied by a widow and her
family, who owned among them two hansom
cabs ; and so, from great ecclesiastics and gentle-
men of the olden time, we descend to the humble
hard-working cabman. It may be observed that
the balustrades in the gallery are of peculiar type,
the design being rather Chinese in appearance.
The balustrades of the old Bull and Mouth Inn,
St. Martin’s-le-Grand, were somewhat similar.
It seems likely that these were put up after Sir
William Chambers, the architect (not yet knighted),
had studied Chinese buildings and published the
results of his observations. This was in the year
1757, and his book certainly influenced the designs
of the period.

Southwark, besides being famous for its inns,
had other associations of a less cheerful kind. It
was emphatically a place of prisons. In the Bishop
of Winchester’s manor or liberty, known as the
Clink, was situated a prison of that name where
not only, as Stow puts it, * such as should babble,
frey, or break the peace,” but debtors and those
of all religious denominations who resisted the law
for conscience’ sake were “straitly ” confined. In
a limited area on the east side of the High Street,
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and therefore close to the inns which we have just
described, were four notable gaols, and afterwards,
partly as substitutes when time had done its decay-
ing work, four more at least. In the olden days
all these gaols might be seen almost at one glance,
the Compter, Marshalsea, King’s Bench, and White
Lion; later and more widely dispersed, the Bride-
well, the New Gaol, the House of Correction, the
second King’s Bench, and the second Marshalsea.
East, in the High Street, near St. George’s
Church, stood from about 1560 the White Lion
Prison, which was used to confine offenders of all
sorts. In the latter part of the seventeenth century
it became unsafe for the detention of prisoners, but
the old place, presumably patched up, appears to
have been turned into a House of Correction.
Finally, on this site, in 1811, was built the later
Marshalsea, which Dickens immortalises in the
story of Little Dorrit, and of which there are still
slight remains. Approaching through Angel Place
(named after a former Angel Tavern), one sees a
grim wall on the right, with a few barred windows.
Of the rest of the building it is difficult to catch
a glimpse ; perhaps something might be discerned
from a piece of disused burial-ground, now cut off
from St. George’s Church by the new road of the
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London County Council. It may be noted that,
when this road was being made, a number of terra-
cotta architectural fragments came to light, which
in all probability had helped to decorate the splendid
mansion of Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk, who
married Mary, sister of Henry VIII. and widow of
Louis XII. of France, and was grandfather of the
ill-fated Lady Jane Grey. He built this mansion
to the west of the High Street and near St. George’s
Church about the year 1516, or a little after, and
here in 1522, when Charles V. visited England, he
received both the King and Emperor, and they
dined and hunted with him. It afterwards passed
into the possession of the King, and became a mint
for coins. In Queen Mary’s time it was pulled
down, and under the name of the Mint this pre-
cinet was notorious as a sanctuary for insolvent
debtors, and a place of refuge for lawless persons
of all descriptions, not effectually suppressed until
the reign of George I. It should be added that
the original Marshalsea Prison was some distance
farther north, on the east side of the High Street,
exactly opposite Maypole Alley.

Between the earlier and later Marshalsea was
the King’s Bench, of ancient origin, for to this
gaol Henry, Prince of Wales, afterwards Henry
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V., was committed by Judge Gascoigne for striking
or insulting him on the bench. In course of
time it became largely, though not altogether,
a prison for debtors. In May 1653, during the
Commonwealth, when it was called the Upper
Bench Prison, there were 399 prisoners within
the building and the rules, whose united debts
amounted to over £900,000. The rules were certain
—or apparently rather uncertain—boundaries, with-
in which, but outside the prison, privileged debtors
could reside. De Foe remarks of them:  The rules
of the King’s Bench are more extensive than those
of the Fleet, having all St. George’s Fields to walk
in; but the Prison House is not near so good”;
and Shadwell, in his play called Epsom Wells
(1676), makes Bevil say: “But by your leave,
Raines, though marriage be a prison, yet you may
make the rules as those of the King’s Bench, that
extend to the East Indies.” The chief officer was
called ‘“the Marshal of the Marshalsea of the
King’s Bench,” and he derived most of his income
from payments by prisoners for the privilege of the
“liberty of the rules.” 'This prison was removed in
1755-1758 to what was then a part of St. George’s
Fields, at the junction of Blackman Street with
Newington Causeway, where later the Borough
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Road joined those streets. It was burnt in the
Gordon riots, but was soon afterwards rebuilt. By
an Act of William IV. it ceased to be a separate
gaol, the I¥leet and Marshalsea being united
with it, and later it was known as the Queen’s
Prison. Arrest for debt having been abolished by
an Act of 32 and 33 Vict. c. 62, it was closed for a
time, and was afterwards used as a military prison,
but not being found convenient for this purpose it
was finally destroyed in 1879, the site being now
occupied by workmen’s dwellings. It was in the
King’s Bench that Dickens’s Mr. Micawber is sup-
posed to have dwelt, pending the arrangement of
his financial difficulties; and in Nicholas Nickleby
the hero visits Madeline Bray, when she is residing
with her father in one of “a row of mean and not
over cleanly houses, situated within the rules.”
The passage to the earlier King’s Bench Prison
lay a little south of the existing Half Moon Inn,
the painted sign of which appears in Hogarth’s
picture of Southwark Fair. A sculptured sign is
still to be seen there having on it the date 1690.
In Rocque’s map of 1746 a considerable open
space covered with trees is shown at the back of
the prison. By the end of the century it had
become Layton’s Yard. Although much curtailed
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a part of this still exists, being called, with the
passage approaching it, Layton’s Buildings. Some
of the houses are old-fashioned, and it still has
rather a rural appearance, as may be seen from our
accompanying illustration.

Near the later King’s Bench or Queen’s Prison,
in Horsemonger Lane, now Union Road, Newing-
ton Causeway, was another comparatively modern
prison called Horsemonger Lane Gaol. It was
built between 1791 and 1798, as a county gaol
or Surrey, the walls enclosing about three and
a half acres, and Leigh Hunt was confined there
during two years for a libel on the Prince Regent.
During his imprisonment here Keats addressed a
sonnet to him, and he was visited by Lord Byron
and Tom Moore. Outside this gaol public execu-
tions took place, and Dickens, who witnessed the
execution of the Mannings in November 1849, has
left us a painful description of the scene. Most
of this site of untold misery is now occupied by
a public playground, a great boon to the neigh-
bourhood ; but why is it thought necessary to
disfigure the whole area with ugly asphalt pave-
ment ?

Almost if not quite as interesting as the
Borough High Street, although later settled, was
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that part of Southwark lying along the river to the
west of Winchester House, which is usually called
the Bankside. Its more eastern portion has already
been referred to as the Clink Liberty, and adjoin-
ing it on the west was the Manor or Liberty of
Paris Garden, which is held to correspond with
what in the twelfth century was the hide of land
called Widflete, which Robert Marmion, son of a
follower of William the Conqueror, gave to Ber-
mondsey Priory in 1113. It was originally in the
once large parish of St. Margaret, Southwark, and
now forms the parish of Christchurch, containing
rather less than a hundred aecres of land, which
extends back on each side of the present Blackfriars
Road. The river forms the northern limit, with
Blackfriars Bridge a little to the east of its centre;
to the west is the parish of Lambeth ; the parish
of St. George-the-Martyr being more or less the
southern, and St. Saviour’s the eastern boundary.
It was a swampy, low-lying place, and in early
times the land limitations were partly if not wholly
defined by streams or broad ditches, one of which
on the western side had an outlet to the river by
the Broadwall, where there was an ancient embank-
ment, while near the north-east corner the “Pudding
Mill stream” passed close to the site of what is

5
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now called Falcon Wharf. This must originally
have connected the old Widflete Mill pond with
the Thames ; but in course of time it degenerated
into a sewer, no longer in existence. All this
land, belonging to the Priory, afterwards the
Abbey, of Bermondsey, was held successively by
the Knights Templars and others, later by the
Knights Hospitallers, but the superior rights of
the Abbey do not appear to have been affected.
Coming into the hands of the Crown shortly before
the Dissolution, it formed part of the dowry of
Jane Seymour. Queen Elizabeth exchanged it
with her cousin, Henry Carey, first L.ord Hunsdon,
who in 1580 alienated the copyhold portion of the
manor to trustees and conveyed the lordship and
freehold manor to Thomas Cure, Queen’s saddler,
to whom we have referred in our account of the
King’s Head Inn, and whose quaint epitaph is still
to be seen in St. Saviour’s Church. The name of
the manor seems to have been derived from one
Robert de Paris, who possessed a house there,
which must have become undesirable as a residence,
for close at hand it was by proclamation ordained,
in the sixteenth year of the reign of Richard II.,
that the butchers of London should have a
convenient place for their offal and garbage,
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in order that the City might not be annoyed
thereby.

To turn to the aspects of the district in the
sixteenth century, Fleetwood, Recorder of London,
in a letter to Lord Burleigh, July 13, 1578, speaks
of it as “dark and much shadowed with trees, that
one man cannot see another unless they have lynceos
oculos or els cattes eys. There be certain virgulta
or eightes of willows set by the Thames near that
place, they grow now exceeding thick and are a
notable covert for confederates to shrowd in”—a
shady place in more senses than one. In the
famous view of London attributed to Agas there
are houses in Paris Garden near the Thames, and
leading to it is a landing stage with boats thereat.
In the roadway from Lambeth, and near these
stairs, a cross is depicted. Standing back is a large
detached building, probably the Manor House.
The rest is open ground—woodland, and pasture,
with numerous ditches. To the east of Paris
Garden, near the Bankside, are amphitheatres
called respectively ““The Bolle Bayting” and “ The
Beare Bayting,” having ponds near them. In a
plan of 1627, due east of the Manor House appears
“'The Olde Play House.”

The fact that these places of entertainment are
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places, all clearly east of Paris Garden. One of
them, the New Bear Garden, otherwise the Hope,
built in 1613, on the plan of a regular theatre, with
movable tressels fit to bear a stage, was also used
for plays, just as the theatres were now and
then used for other performances. Ben Jonson’s
Bartholomew Fair was played at the Hope the
year after it was opened. Iarley, in 1621, among
other entertainments, speaks of—

A Monrris dance, a puppet play,

Mad Tom to sing a roundelay,

A woman dancing on a rope,
Bull baiting also—at the Hope.

During the Commonwealth these bull and bear
rings were suppressed ; but they again came into
fashion, and we know that Pepys and Evelyn both
witnessed the sports there, and each has left a char-
acteristic account of them. There is an advertise-
ment of “the Hope on the Bankside, being his
Majesty’s Bear Garden,” as late as the year 1682.
Besides the places of entertainment thus briefly
alluded to, three regular playhouses were also
built in this neighbourhood, because on account
of puritanical leanings the municipal authorities
objected to their establishment within the confines
of the City, and they attracted to the Bankside
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players of the highest rank. The most famous, of
course, is the Globe, first built by Richard Burbage
and his brother in 1599, burnt down in 1613, and
rebuilt immediately afterwards ; the name of which
is known throughout the -civilised world from
Shakespeare’s intimate connection with it. Here
played the company of which he was a member.
It is a fact which perhaps has not been before
pointed out, that, previous to the year 1603, when
its members were promoted to the rank of King’s
players, this’company had been under the patron-
age of the first and second Lords Hunsdon, who
were in succession Lords Chamberlain, so that the
connection of the former with this district was a
twofold one. He had, however, parted with the
Manor of Paris Garden long before he became
patron of the company. We may call to mind that
Shakespeare was living “near the Bear Garden” in
1596—so0 says his contemporary Edward Alleyn,
who on February 19, 1592, had opened a theatre,
called the Rose, hard by, which is thought to have
been the earliest scene of Shakespeare’s successes,
both as actor and dramatist.

Both these playhouses were in the Clink Liberty.
The Paris Garden Theatre was the Swan—the
“Olde Play House” of the 1627 plan. It seems
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to have been built soon after 1594 by Francis
Langley, Lord of the Freehold Manor of Paris
Garden. We are told of various performances at
this house, among . the rest that Ben Jonson here
played the character of Zulziman; but its chief
interest to modern students of the old theatres
lies in the fact that, in or about the year 1596, a
German visitor named Johannes de Witt wrote a
description of it, accompanied by a spirited sketch
of the interior, which has several times been repro-
duced, the whole having been published at Bremen
in 1888. In the Accounts of the Overseers of the
Poor of Paris Garden from 1608 onwards, printed
for the first time with notes and an introduction by .
the writer, the Swan is four or five times referred to
by name. In 1610-11 this playhouse contributed
£4:6:8 for the poor. The last reference, that of
1620-21, shows that the sum of £3 :19 :4 was then
received of the Swan players. In a tract of 1632,
where mention is made of the Globe, the Hope, and
the Swan, we are told that the last, “beeing in times
past as famous as any of the others, was now fallen
to decay, and like a dying Swanne, hanging downe
her head, seemed to sing her own dirge.” We may
suppose, therefore, that the place had then seen its
best days and was rapidly coming to an end. The
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sites of these old playhouses and bull and bear
rings can be more or less accurately traced.
Barclay’s great Anchor Brewery, extending over
thirteen acres, has absorbed the site of the Globe,
and, apart from this great memory, is on its own
account almost classic ground, because at the
Thrales’ house attached to it Dr. Johnson spent
much of his happiest time in the congenial society
of them and of their intimates, and at the brewery,
after Mr. Thrale’s untimely death, Johnson, when
zealously working as executor at the sale of the
business, gave that characteristic answer to one
who asked its value: “ We are not here to sell a
parcel of boilers and vats, but the potentiality of
growing rich beyond the dreams of avarice.”
North-west of the brewery, between the Bank-
side and Park Street, formerly Maid Lane, is
Rose Alley, which marks the site of the theatre
of that name. A little farther west is an alley
called Bear Gardens, near the north end of which
appears to have stood what was known as the
Old Bear Garden, taken down in 1613, while the
site of the Hope or New Bear Garden is near the
south end, where it opens out into a tiny square.
The other two bear-baiting places which Taylor
remembered were both farther west, one of them
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being at Mason Stairs on the Bankside, and the
second near Maid Lane at the corner of the Pike
Garden, and these appear to correspond with the
rings for “bolle bayting” and for ‘beare bayting ”
marked in the ancient plan attributed to Agas.

On the extreme confines of the Clink Liberty,
where it touches Paris Garden, and a short distance
east of the site of the Swan Theatre, an inn called
the Falcon was standing until the first decade of the
nineteenth century, which, if we may accept a not
unlikely tradition, was once the haunt of Shake-
speare and his fellows; an illustration of it may
be seen in Wilkinson’s Londina Illustrata, dated
1805. The site is now occupied by Falcon Wharf
and Dock. Adjoining it on the west is a brick
building in the occupation of the Hydraulic Power
Company. This is now modernised and apparently
of little architectural interest, but after carefully
comparing various plans and views the writer has
come to the conclusion that it is the very house
declared in Concanen and Morgan’s history of St.
Saviour’s parish (1795) to have been built by Sir
Christopher Wren, for Mr. Jones, master of the
Falcon Iron Foundry, which occupied the space
between this and the river. They add that he

cast the railings for St. Paul’'s Cathedral. On a
8
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drawing in the Gardner collection, dated 1789,
which obviously represents this house, is the follow-
ing statement in writing by W. Capon the artist :—
“From a balcony at the top of the house Sir
Christopher used to watch the work at St. Paul’s
as it proceeded ; it was his constant custom to do
so in the morning—I was so informed by a very
old gentleman belonging to the foundry.” The
railings of St. Paul’s are generally said to have
been cast at Lamberhurst, on the borders of Kent
and Sussex, and to be among the last known
specimens of Sussex iron; but in the original
account books of the building of St. Pauls
Cathedral there is an entry of the payment of over
£11,200 to ‘“Richard Jones, smith, for the Large
Iron Fence round the Church,” besides £25 :18s.
to John Slyford “for carriage, etc., of Mr. Jones’s
Irone Worke from the Water side to the Church.”
Perhaps the railings were cast at Lamberhurst for
the Falcon Foundry and fitted there.

A short distance south, opening upon that part
of Holland Street which was formerly called Green
Walk, are some rather picturesque almshouses
founded by one Charles Hopton in 1752 for the
benefit of people of reduced circumstances and
good character belonging to the parish of Christ-
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church. Here, in an iron-bound chest, are preserved
the title-deeds of the copyhold portion of the
Manor of Paris Garden, in which the writer may
perhaps be allowed to take special interest, as his
family has for some generations been connected
with it. The steward has in his keeping an
ebony rod tipped with silver, having on it “ Edward
Knight, Baylif, 1697,” and a later date. This
rod is still used at the surrendering of property,
the steward holding one end, and the surrendering
and the incoming tenant in turn the other. Much
of the property, however, is now enfranchised.

On looking at old plans of the Bankside one is
struck by the number of stairs giving access to
the river, an indication of the fact that in the
time of the theatres and of other more question-
able centres of attraction the paying public was
mostly conveyed thereto by boat. Thus Southwark
watermen were plentiful, and drove a roaring
trade. The man among them best known to
later generations was John Taylor, already several
times referred to, who championed their cause,
and at the same time advertised himself in
amusing, if artless, rhyme. 'The river being to
him a source of livelihood, he naturally praised
it with his whole heart : —
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But noble Thames, whilst I can hold my pen,
I will divulge thy glory unto men:

Thou in the morning, when my coin is scant,
Before the evening dost supply my want.

His great grievance was the advent of coaches,
which interfered with his business. In a prose
tract, published in 1623, he says: “I do not
inveigh against any coaches that belong to persons
of worth and quality, but only against the cater-
pillar swarm of hirelings. They have undone my
poor trade whereof I am a member; and though I
look for no reformation, yet I expect the benefit of
an old proverb, < Give the losers leave to speak.””
In a pamphlet called 4n Arrant Thief, he indi-
cates the approximate date of the introduction of
these vehicles which so raised his ire :—

When Queen Elizabeth came to the crown,

A coach in England then was scarcely known ;
Then ’twas as rare to see one as to spy

A tradesman that had never told a lie.

In spite of Taylor’s gloomy forebodings, the river
almost throughout the seventeenth century must
have been in its glory as a thoroughfare.

Before quitting the subject of Southwark water-
men, the writer is tempted to transcribe the follow-
ing epitaph which is engraved on a large slab now
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placed upright against the east wall of the Lady
Chapel of St. Saviour’s, having been dug up from
under the floor during the restoration of 1832 :—
“ Nicholas Norman, Waterman, late Servante to
the King’s Maiestie, and Elizabeth his wife, were
here buryed, hee the 25 of May, 1629, and shee
the 15 of Januarye followeinge, who lived 16 years
together in the holie state of matrimonie, and do
here rest in hope of a ioyfull resurrection.”

Whole districts of Southwark must, in this
volume at least, remain unchronicled—Bermondsey,
for instance—the seat of the great Cluniac Abbey
of St. Saviour, and Horsleydown, portrayed in a
famous picture by Joris Hoefnagel, now belonging
to the Marquis of Salisbury. Something can still
be found there that is of interest alike to the artist
and the antiquary, but more attractive subjects
call us to the opposite side of the river. As, full
of thoughts about the old Southwark theatres, we
pass the great church now called St. Saviour’,
a splendid relic of the Augustinian Priory of
St. Mary Overy, we may call to mind that the
friends and fellow -dramatists, Beaumont and
Fletcher, dwelt together on the Bankside near the
Globe, and that the latter, having died of the
plague, was buried in St. Saviour’s; that Philip
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exist, continue to this day to be the limitations of
what is, strictly speaking, the City, though districts
“without” the walls have from time to time been
added. The Great Fire of London swept away
five-sixths of the older City, and time and the
jerry-builder have almost completed the removal
of the rest. But the Fire occurred many genera-
tions ago, and the structures erected within fifty
years of that event have now a respectable anti-
quity. The three kinds of building to which,
perhaps, the student of old London would first
direct his steps in the City are the churches dating
from before the Great Fire, St. Paul’'s Cathedral
and the parish churches designed by Sir Christopher
Wren, and thirdly, the Guildhall, together with
some twenty halls of the City Companies, the rest
of these being modern. Externally the Guildhall
shows few traces of antiquity, but the interior of
the fifteenth-century porch has considerable merit,
and the large crypt is a remarkably interesting
specimen of medieval architecture. With the
exception, however, of some of Wren’s churches
destroyed within the last few years, and of others
which, we fear, are in danger of destruction,
these buildings fortunately do not come under
the title of “vanished” or *vanishing.” Thus it
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happens that the writer has turned his attention
most to the study of old houses which, on account
of their picturesqueness, sometimes of their historic
interest, appeared worthy of record. He has, how-
ever, included views of churches, and of other
relics, ranging from a piece of the Roman wall to
buildings as late as the eighteenth century, which
have been destroyed within the last few years.

In the early days of English history Royalty
itself and powerful nobles had dwellings in or
near the City, and various place-names still sur-
viving attest the fact. By Charles IL’s time,
however, most of the great people had moved
west, leaving the business part of the town to the
merchants and traders, from whose ranks so many
of the present aristocracy may trace their origin.
Of the appearance of London before the Great
Fire we can form a very good idea from views and
descriptions, and from the few houses which until
lately have survived. As a rule, they had their
gables towards the street, and were of timber or
half-timbered construction, many of the fronts
being beautifully carved or decorated with fine
plaster work. Stow records the existence of stone
houses, but as if it were something uncommon.
Doubtless brickwork was also used as a building

»”

]



50 LONDON VANISHED AND VANISHING

material ; Lincoln’s Inn gateway, still happily in
good condition in spite of reports to the contrary,
dates from the year 1518, and, outside the area
with which we are now dealing, the gateways of
St. James’s Palace and Lambeth Palace are also
early examples of brickwork. After the Great
Fire, brick became the almost exclusive building
material for houses; and that eminently practical
genius, Wren, while building St. Paul’s and his
great series of City churches, although not allowed
to carry out his scheme for reconstructing the
streets, also clearly set the fashion in domestic
architecture. He was in truth the father of the
style now called by the name of Queen Anne,
though it began before her reign and, with gradual
modifications, continued long afterwards. Most
of the City houses to which reference will here
be made are more or less in that style, but there
are a few examples of earlier work.

In the home of the city merchant, as rebuilt
after the Fire, there was no attempt to vie with
the sumptuous palaces which rose in the land
during the early days of the Renaissance, but it
had the supreme merit of being thoroughly suit-
able for its purpose. Outside there was little dis-
play, though cut brick, a charming material, often
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helped the effect. The chief ornament was con-
centrated on that part which would be most seen,
namely the doorway. Within, the offices were as
a rule on the ground floor. A well-proportioned
staircase, with turned and often twisted balusters,
led to the chief reception rooms, and here the
architect, or builder, worked with a loving care—
the mantelpiece, the panelling, the cornice, the
mahogany doors, the carved architraves and over-
doors were each in its way beautiful, and each
formed part of a harmonious whole. We will now
try to introduce to our readers a few of the older
City mansions, and incidentally we will tell some-
thing about those who dwelt in them. On con-
sideration we find that the subject does not entirely
lend itself to any rigid arrangement; the reader
will therefore perhaps pardon us if, both as regards
time and place, we group our facts together in
the way that most easily suggests itself, without
attempting to be quite methodical.

On the west side of Bishopsgate Street With-
out, some years ago, the Great Eastern Railway
Company cleared away a space nearly a quarter
of a mile in length which involved the removal, at
the end of 1890, of what remained of Sir Paul
Pindar’s house, a beautiful work of art, and a
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unique fragment of a great merchant’s residence at
the beginning of the seventeenth century. The oak
front, with its matchless carved work, is now to
be seen in the South Kensington Museum. The
finely decorated plaster ceiling from a room on the
first floor was at the same time removed to South
Kensington, where there is another fine ceiling
said to be similar in style, which was acquired
some thirteen years previously, when the house
next to Sir Paul Pindar’s, on the left side of our
illustration, was taken down. The room which
contained the ceiling first mentioned was also
decorated with good oak panelling, and originally
with a grotesque but handsome chimney-piece,
having on it the date 1600, removed early in the
nineteenth century, when the room was made
what the occupants called “a little comfortable.”
Doubtless the original mansion included the adjoin-
ing house and a good deal more besides. There
must have been gardens at the back, and a build-
ing decorated with plaster work, usually called
“the Lodge,” which once stood in Half Moon
Street, was said by tradition to have been occupied
by the gardener.

Sir Paul Pindar was not only a merchant but
a diplomatist. His early manhood was spent in
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Italy. He afterwards held a post at Aleppo, and
in 1611, on the recommendation of the Turkey
Company, was sent by James I. as ambassador to
Constantinople, where he resided, with intervals
spent in England, for nine years. Pindar brought
from the east some wonderful jewels; a diamond
belonging to him, valued in 1824 at £35,000, was
lent to James I. to wear on state occasions, and
was afterwards bought by Charles 1. for a smaller
sum, payment being deferred. He advanced
enormous sums to that monarch and others, in
consequence, after his death, which occurred on
August 22, 1650, his affairs were found to be so
much entangled that his executor and -cashier,
William Toomes, after vainly trying to unravel them
committed suicide. Sir Paul was a parishioner of
St. Botolph’s, Bishopsgate, and presented com-
munion plate to that church, which has been either
sold or melted. In St. Botolph’s account books
are entries recording various gifts of venison by
him on the occasion of feasts, which did not,
however, save him from being fined for eating
meat on fish days by the ungrateful parish author-
ities. He was buried in St. Botolph’s Church, and
his monument there, which used to be on the
north side of the chancel but is now relegated
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to some obscure corner, deseribes him as  faithful
in negotiations foreign and domestick ; eminent for
piety, charity, loyalty, and prudence ; an inhabitant
26 years, and a bountiful benefactor to this parish.”

Some distance north of the site of Sir Paul
Pindar’s house, on the opposite side of the way,
there was, not very long ago, a group of four houses,
numbered 81 to 85 Bishopsgate Street Without,
which, although vulgarised and defaced, were
evidently very old. They resembled each other
more or less, and No. 82 still remains. It is of
wood, the gabled top story standing slightly back, '
and having a door in front which opens on to a
kind of gallery, formed by the space thus gained
and by a projecting cornice. The Rev. Thomas
Hugo, who examined the houses in Bishopsgate
Street over forty years ago, was told that within
the memory of man the date 1590 had been
visible on one of the group. Their wooden fronts,
however, have markings in imitation of stone-
work, called technically wooden rustications, which
seem to suggest a later date. Similar work was
to be seen on the wooden houses in Fore Street
at the entrance to St. Giles, Cripplegate, which
with the tower of that church have given us a
picturesque subject for an illustration. Beneath










T R RN ICNRNRENRRRRrNRE OIS I =™ - . S






THE CITY AND EAST END 55

one of these houses is shown the old entrance
to the churchyard, the stones of which are at
present lying on the ground, but will, it is said,
be re-erected. The spandrels of the round-headed
arch are, or were, filled in with carvings of an hour-
glass, a scythe, a death’s head, and other emblems
of mortality. Above were the names of the
churchwardens at the time of its erection, and the
date 1660. This gate was built in the previous
year out of the fines received for the renewal
of the leases of the parish property. The four
wooden shops, with their projecting windows, were
rather older, being finished in 1656. They were
built by the same authorities on a strip of the
burial ground from a similar fund, the rents to be
applied to charitable purposes in the parish. Next
to these shops was the “Quest House,” a small
part of which is shown near the left side of our
drawing. Here the “Inquest Jury” used to sit.
This was a body of men whose chief duties were
to look after the internal affairs of the Ward.
They were elected on St. Thomas’s Day in the
same manner as the Common Councilmen, their
numbers varying from sixteen to twenty. This
jury, after gradually losing most of its powers, was
abolished about the year 1857. The curious plate
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Quest House exposed to view a staircase-turret, a
doorway, and various north windows of the church
in a dilapidated condition; they have now been
“restored.” The upper part of the tower, as shown
in our illustration, was built of brick in 1683-84,
and surmounted by a cupola. 'With no pretence of
being Gothic, it has, to the writer’s eyes at least,
a very picturesque effect; a proposal made in
1890-91 to rebuild it in Kentish ragstone was
fortunately frustrated. This tower contains a fine
peal of twelve bells; a chiming machine con-
nected with them is said to have been made in
1795 by George Harman of High Wycombe, whose
regular trade was that of a cooper. Six of the
bells have rhyming inscriptions, of which the
following is a fair example :—

Ye ringers all that prize your health and happiness,
Be sober, merry, wise, and you’'ll the same possess.

The church contains many interesting monu-
ments, none of very great antiquity; the oldest
being that to Thomas Busby, a benefactor of the
parish, who died in 1575. Among them is a touch-
ing epitaph to Margaret Lucy, who died in 1634, a
descendant of Shakespeare’s Sir Thomas Lucy of

Charlecote. John Foxe, the martyrologist, some-
8
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time vicar of this parish, and John Speed, carto-
grapher and historian, are also here commemorated.
John Milton and his father were buried in the same
grave “in the upper end of the chancel at the right
hand.” TIts place is indicated by a stone thus in-
scribed :—* Near this spot was buried John Milton,
author of Paradise Lost. Born 1608, died 1674.”
The grave was disturbed in 1790. Shortly after-
wards Samuel Whitbread, the brewer, put up a
bust and tablet to Milton’s memory, the work of
the elder Bacon. In 1862 these were placed on a
lofty monument which was then erected in the
south aisle to the west of the monument of Speed.
Oliver Cromwell was married in this church to
Elizabeth Bourchier, August 22, 1620. The
registers also contain entries relating to the
Egertons, Earls of Bridgewater, the site of whose
house is marked by Bridgewater Square, which is
in this parish. It was before the head of this
family at Ludlow Castle, his official residence as
President of the Council of Wales, that Milton’s
masque of Comus was performed- in 1634, Lawes
being composer of the music. A statue of the
poet was placed in November on a conspicuous site
near the church, the ground having been bought
back from the City Corporation.
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We will now retrace our steps to the district
through which Bishopsgate Street passes, where,
from the fact that the Great Iire did not in this
direction extend so far north, many picturesque
houses long lingered. Among the rest, fifty years
ago, like the Borough High Street, it was lined
with quaint old inns, of which the Bull, the Four
Swans, and the Green Dragon were the most con-
spicuous. The remains of a mansion far older and
more famous than that of Sir Paul Pindar are
close to this street on the east side, being part
of Crosby Place, built by Sir John Crosby, who
obtained from the adjoining convent of St. Helen a
lease of the ground in 1466. The portions remain-
ing are the great hall, with a fine open timber roof
and a beautiful oriel window, a room on the ground
floor now called the ¢ throne room,” and a  with-
drawing ” or “ council room” above, having a richly-
carved ceiling. - There are also considerable brick
cellars. These valuable relics are in no danger of
destruction ; they have been drawn repeatedly, and
are so smartened up to meet the requirements of the
purpose to which they are now put, namely, that
of a modern restaurant, that they do not at present
lend themselves readily to illustration. Here,
however, we may comfortably refresh the inner
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man after a pilgrimage among the time-honoured
shrines in the neighbourhood, and while doing so
we may conjure up past scenes before our mental
vision. The history of the place is of unique
interest. Sir John Crosby, a famous citizen, served
the office of Sheriff in 1470, and early in the follow-
ing year, when the bastard Falconbridge assaulted
the city, he distinguished himself by his valour in
helping to repel the attack. When Edward IV.
returned to London, in May 1471, Crosby accom-
panied the Mayor and other prominent men who
met the King between Shoreditch and Islington,
and here he received the honour of knighthood.
In the two following years he was employed by
Edward in confidential missions, but did not long
survive to enjoy his prosperity and his sumptuous
mansion. Dying in 1475, he was buried in the
neighbouring church of St. Helen, where between
the chancel and the chapel of the Holy Ghost is
an altar tomb, having on it fine recumbent figures
of him and of Agnes, his first wife: Round his
neck is a collar decorated with roses and suns
alternating—the latter a badge used by Edward
IV. after the victory of Mortimer’s Cross, when a
parhelion or mock sun made its appearance.

In 1483 Crosby Place was occupied by
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Richard III. when Protector, probably as a tenant
of Crosby’s executors, and it is twice mentioned in
Shakespeare’s Play of Richard III. Shakespeare
himself may have lived close by in 1598, shifting
his quarters from the neighbourhood of the Bank-
side ; at least some one of his name was a resident
in St. Helen’s parish, being assessed by the col-
lectors of a subsidy, in the sum of 13s. 4d., upon
goods valued at £5, but it is not certain that this
was the dramatist. Among inmates of the house,
Sir Thomas More was there as owner about
1518 ; he afterwards sold the property to his friend
Antonio Bonvici or Bonvisi, merchant of Luecca,
who at one time leased it to the husband of
Margaret Roper, More’s favourite daughter. In
1566 the mansion was bought by Alderman William
Bond, a famous “ merchant adventurer,” who added
to it a lofty turret. About this time, and later,
foreign ambassadors were occasionally lodged here ;
and here, in 1594, Sir John Spencer, a man of
great wealth, kept his mayoralty, having bought
the property, made great reparation, and added “a
most large warehouse to the east.” He also bought
Canonbury Place, Islington, once the manorial
house of the prior and convent of St. Bartholomew
in Smithfield, and probably built the tower of it,
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which is still standing. Like Crosby and Bond,
he was buried in St. Helen’s Church, where, against
the wall to the west of the south porch, his splendid
monument is now placed. It hasrecumbent figures
of Sir John and his wife, and at their feet is the
figure of their daughter kneeling. She married
Lord Compton, later first Earl of Northampton,
having, as the story goes, eloped from Canonbury
by his contrivance in a baker’s basket. That she
was quite able to hold her own is proved by a
letter, still extant, which was written by her, some
years after Sir John’s death, to her “Lord and
Master.” She therein tells him what she personally
needed in the way of money, beginning with £1600
a year paid quarterly, £600 a year for charity,
£8000 for jewels, in addition to £6000, and there
is a further list of many costly requirements.
Besides those mentioned above, various other
distinguished people have been associated with
Crosby Place, the southern part of which is said
to have been injured by the Great Fire, and was
almost destroyed by another six years afterwards,
the hall, however, luckily escaping. It was after
this that the present Crosby Square came into
existence. The subsequent vicissitudes of the hall
are well known, and the successful efforts made
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between 1831 and 1836 to preserve it. In the
latter year it was re-opened ; the present front
facing Bishopsgate Street forms no part of the
original building. Before quitting the subject it
may be remarked that Crosby Place must have
stood on the site of a Roman villa, for here two
Roman tesselated pavements were found in 1871
and 1873. The house, with its offices and gardens,
covered a good deal of ground.

To what extent Crosby Place was damaged
by the successive fires of the latter half of the
seventeenth century is not exactly known, but
it is an interesting fact that at No. 25 Bishops-
gate Street Within, a few yards south of the
entrance leading to Crosby Square, a house of
earlier date was standing until 1892-98 which had
been known for years as Crosby Hall Chambers.
The front towards the street had no marks of
antiquity except two festoons of flowers, much
blocked up by paint, between the first floor
windows. The north side appeared to be externally
more or less in its original state. Its base was
composed of rustic work, the wall being relieved
by pilasters. There was also a room on the first
floor looking out on this passage, which had a
fragment of decorative plaster work, and a beautiful
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St. Helen’s, which some years ago was remarkably
picturesque. At a corner, opposite the pretty
south porch of the church, by some attributed to
Inigo Jones, which has on it the date 1638, stood
a quaint old house constructed of wood and plaster,
with projecting upper stories and massive timber-
ing, which had been in existence long before the
Great Fire, and at the time of our sketch was
probably, except Crosby Hall, the oldest domestic
building in the City; the inside, however, had
been modernised. Tradition boldly asserts that
Anne Boleyn’s father, Sir Thomas, afterwards
Viscount Rochford and Earl of Wiltshire, lived
here. It is an undoubted fact that a kinsman
of his name was intimately associated with St.
Helen’s, for “on the 24th of December, 26
Henry VIIIL., 1534, the Prioress and Convent
appointed Sir William Bolleyne, Knt., to be
steward of their lands and tenements in London
and elsewhere, the duties to be performed either
by himself or a sufficient deputy during the life
of the said James, at a stipend of forty shillings
a year payable at Christmas. If in arrear for six
weeks the said James might enter and distrain.”
This was most likely Sir Thomas Boleyn’s elder

brother. The house, No. 10, had been much
9
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shaken by the removal of Nos. 8 and 9 adjoining.
It was propped up for some time, and destroyed
in the course of 1894.

The house alluded to in the last paragraph, and
known latterly as Nos. 8 and 9 Great St. Helen’s,
although less ancient than No. 10, deserves some-
thing more than a passing allusion. It is on the
south side of that part of Great St. Helen’s which
faces the church and churchyard, both Great St.
Helen’s and St. Helen’s Place having been once in-
cluded in the precinct of the Convent of St. Helen.
A parish church existed here before the founda-
tion of the Priory in the early thirteenth century.
When that event took place, a nun’s choir was
built alongside of the existing nave. The whole
church happily escaped the Great Fire, and although
of late years it has been terribly over-restored, it
is still full of interest and crowded with ancient
monuments. To return to Nos. 8 and 9. This
mansion, latterly divided into two, and destroyed
in the early part of 1892, was of brick, having
engaged pilasters, which were furnished with stone
bases and capitals. They also had bands, on two
of which appeared in relief the initials \-, and the
date 1646. 'The projecting sills or cornices and
the deep keystones on the first-floor windows gave
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a striking appearance to the fabric. It was also
memorable as an early specimen of brickwork in
London, and as dating from a period before the
formal conclusion of the Civil War, when building
operations were almost at a standstill. No. 9 had
in a room on the first floor a wooden seventeenth-
century mantelpiece, behind which, on its removal,
were found traces of an older mantelpiece of
marble, and evidence of the former existence of a
large open fireplace. The beautiful staircase, or
portion of a staircase, might from its style have
been Elizabethan. A blocked-up window, with
wooden transoms for casements, was also dis-
covered ; so it seems likely that some years after
the date of the original building considerable altera-
tions took place. The facade has been attributed
to Inigo Jones, but it had not his classic symmetry,
and looked like the work of a less instructed local
artist. Besides, Inigo Jones, a Royalist and a
Roman Catholic, was taken prisoner in October
1645 at the storming of Basing House, having
been there during the siege, which had lasted since
August 1643. He was apparently not free to
return to his profession until July 2, 1646, when,
after payment of a heavy fine, his estate, which had
been sequestrated, was restored to him, and he
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received pardon by an ordinance of the House of
Commons. It is hard to believe that whilst he
was passing through such a crisis, or in the few
months succeeding it, he would have been super-
intending a work in the Puritan City. At the
time of his release the great architect was seventy-
four years of age, and as far as we know he hardly
practised his profession afterwards. The division
of Nos. 8 and 9 Great St. Helen's took place in
the course of the last century, probably about
1750, to judge from the style of the fanlights and
projecting hoods to the front doors, and from the
staircase of No. 8, the upper portion of which,
however, was much more archaic, and might have
served as part of the back staircase to the original
building. We have not been able to give a coloured
illustration of this house, but there is an archi-
tectural drawing of it in our book on London
signs and inscriptions.

The initials have generally been considered
to refer to Sir John Lawrence and his wife,
but they were really those of his uncle and
aunt, Adam and Judith Lawrence, who were
members of the Dutch congregation of Austin
Friars. From Adam, Sir John inherited this
house with other property in 1657, the year
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that he was elected alderman of Queenhithe
Ward. He shortly afterwards served the office
of Sheriff, and on June 16, 1660, he was knighted
by Charles II. when that monarch, accompanied
by his brothers, the Dukes of York and Gloucester,
and some of the nobility, were entertained at supper
by the Lord Mayor, Sir Thomas Alleyne. In
1664 he was elected Lord Mayor, and Evelyn
speaks of a ‘“most magnificent triumph by water
and land” on that occasion. Evelyn also attended
the Lord Mayor’s banquet, when he dined at the
upper table with various great personages, and
““the cheer was not to be imagined for the plenty
and rarity, with an infinite number of persons at
the table in that ample hall.” Sir John behaved
very well during the time of the Great Plague.
He “enforced the wisest regulations then known,”
and freely expended his private fortune in support
of those who were ill and impoverished until sub-
seriptions from elsewhere could be obtained. Dr.
Erasmus Darwin, in his Loves of the Plants, devotes
a few lines to ““London’s generous Mayor.”

In 1662 apparently Lawrence had built a new
house for himself also in Great St. Helen’s, in
which he kept his ‘mayoralty ; an illustration of
it appeared in 1796, forming the frontispiece «to
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vol. xxix. of the Kuropean Magazine. That
undoubted residence of his is marked by name in
the map of Bishopsgate Street Ward accompanying
Strype’s edition of Stow’s Survey, where a slight
sketch of it is given. The Jewish synagogue is
rather west of the site. It is curious that the
initials on Nos. 8 and 9 Great St. Helen’s besides
suiting the uncle Adam and his wife were also
applicable to Sir John and Lady Lawrence, whose
Christian name was Abigail. There is a monument
to this latter lady in St. Helen’s Church, where it
is recorded that she was ‘‘the tender mother of ten
children. The nine first, being all daughters, she
suckled at her own breasts; they all lived to be of
age. Her last, a son, died an infant. She lived
a married wife 89 years, 28 whereof she was an
exemplary matron of this Cittie, dying in the 59th
year of her age” As she died in 1681, it would
appear that she and her husband came to reside in
the parish after Adam’s death. In St. Helen’s
Church is a carved wooden stand for the reception
of the Lord Mayor’s sword on the occasion of his
ceremonial visits there. This has on it the arms
of Lawrence, namely argent, a cross raguly gules,
a canton ermine, and is the oldest sword-stand in
the City. Faulkner in his History of Chelsea, and
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the Rev. J. E. Cox, D.D., in his Annals of St.
Heler’s, deceived no doubt by the fact that their
arms were identical, have assumed that Sir John
Lawrence belonged to the Lawrences who acquired
the Manor House at Chelsea about the year 1590,
and with it, in all likelihood, the north chapel in
the old parish church, which is still called after
them but was built long before their time, perhaps
towards the beginning of the fourteenth century.
The Lord Mayor, as we have implied, was of
Dutch or Flemish ancestry. The name had been
spelt in various ways, as Laurens, Laureijns,
Laurents, etc., until, when its possessors became
thoroughly anglicised, it took the English form.
About the year 1860 almost all the houses in
Great St. Helen’s were of considerable age, but
little that is of interest now remains. On the south
side No. 2 has a pretty doorway, which appears to
date from the early part of the eighteenth century,
and there is another (No. 7) with a Georgian stair-
case. There was a right-of-way through here for
the public from very early times; for Dugdale
tells us that in the Hundred Roll of the third year
of Edward I. several entries occur relating to an
attempt which the nuns made to stop up the lane
or passage through the court of their priory from
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Bishopsgate Street to St. Mary Axe. The view
which is here given represents the entrance to
Bishopsgate Street from Great St. Helen’s in 1890.
On the left is a modern portion of Crosby Hall,
and over the passage were gabled houses older than
the time of the Great Fire. The structure on
spectator’s right, although unpretentious, had an air
of quaintness, with its iron railings and broad white
window frames shining in the sun. The inscrip-
tion on a tablet above the door of this building ran
as follows :—* These alms-houses were founded
by Sir Andrew Judd, Kt., Citizen and Skinner, and
Lord Mayor of London, Anno Dom. 1551. - For
six poor men of y* said Company. Rebuilt by y*
said Company Anno Dom. 1729.” The original
almshouses are supposed to have been further
east.

Sir Andrew Judd was a native of Tunbridge
in Kent, and made a large fortune as a merchant,
chiefly, it is said, by dealing in furs. He kept his
mayoralty in a “fair house” in Bishopsgate Street,
which had been before used for a similar purpose
by another great city magnate, Sir William Holles.
It seems to be shown by her will, that in building the
almshouses Sir Andrew Judd only acted as executor
to his cousin Elizabeth, widow of Sir William.









N T — R N R NV T S, RSNy =SSN N TS






THE CITY AND EAST END 73

Stow, however, does not mention her name in
connection with the charity, which was augmented
by Judd’s daughter, Alice Smyth, of Westenhanger,
Kent. Sir Andrew also founded and endowed Tun-
bridge Grammar School. Like most of the other
worthies we have mentioned in connection with
this precinct, he was buried in St. Helen’s Church.
A quaint Elizabethan monument marks his resting-
place. The epitaph gives quite a little biography
of him, which contains what a transatlantic cousin
thought to be the essential poetic elements, for it
“states all the facts and rhymes occasionally.”
Judd’s almshouses in Great St. Helen’s were
destroyed about 1892, a scheme having been
matured by the Skinners’ Company for amalgamat-
ing the funds with those of other almshouses
administered by them, which stood on the north
side of the Mile End Road. We shall here take
the opportunity of saying a few words about the
Skinners’ almshouses, a view of a portion of them
being given in this book. Over the gate were the
arms of the Skinners’ Company and two statuettes
of cripples. There were also two inscriptions, one
setting forth that the almshouses were founded in
1688 during the mastership of Benjamin Alexander.

The other ran thus :(—
10
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Citizen and Vintner, whose house is yet standing in
the Minories. There were formerly several other
almshouses in this once rural neighbourhood,
where, as Gerard tells us in his Herbal, penny-
royal once grew in great abundance, and whither
Londoners used to wend their way on festive
occasions for the sake of fresh air and for cakes
and ale. The Drapers’ almshouses of the John
Pemel foundation disappeared long ago, and those
founded by Bancroft have given place to the
“People’s Palace,” the outcome in some sense of
Walter Besant’s ideas of social philanthropy as
set forth in 4/l Sorts and Conditions of Men.
Standing by the Skinners’ Almshouse, and look-
ing west towards the Whitechapel Road, one would
formerly have seen a little timber-built tavern
with tiled roof called the Vine, which had here
boldly thrust itself on to the open space between
the wide pavement and the wider road. So
picturesque was its appearance that two views of
it are here given. The first, done many years ago,
represents it from the west, in the early morning
of May 14, 1887, the day when her late Majesty
Queen Victoria, accompanied by Princess Beatrice
and Prince Henry of Battenberg, drove in an
open carriage from Paddington to Mile End, and
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opened in person the great Central Hall of the
People’s Palace. The streets were gaily decorated
for the occasion, and it will be seen that the
proprietor of the Vine Tavern invested in bunting
to an extent that marked him out as a thoroughly
loyal subject. At the time represented in the
painting, the road, soon to be thronged with a
joyous crowd, was still empty, save for the presence
of here and there a straggler, who seemed in no
hurry for work or play, but as if anxious to begin
at once with some slight liquid refreshment. On
spectator’s right the entrance to the Skinners’
Almshouses is visible. In the early autumn of
1903 it became known that the old house had been
condemned by the Borough Council of Stepney.
Our second illustration was the result of a couple
of afternoon visits, when the work of demolition
was already begun. As the hour of sunset
approached, we were struck by the crowd of foot
passengers, male and female, who, business for the
day being finished, were wending their way east-
ward from Whitechapel.

The site of the “Vine” remains vacant, and is
not likely to be again built upon. Although dear
to the artist, it was a humble shanty, and efforts
to find out something of interest connected with









- s o ey
P S S SR ST Ty ahg ]







THE CITY AND EAST END m

it have been rather unsuccessful. From its appear-
ance it must have been at least as old as the earlier
half of the eighteenth century, perhaps much older,
and it was built on the waste ground at Mile End
which has been absorbed into the thoroughfare,
thus long ago extended to an abnormal width.
The former waste land at Mile End must not be
confounded with Mile End (now Stepney) Green.
The Vine Tavern stood in front of some houses
named in a map of 1799, “Five Constable Row,”
and is thereon distinctly marked. It was in the
Mile End Road, which is a continuation east of the
Whitechapel Road; Dog Row (now Cambridge
Road) from the north joins and also divides them.
This junction takes place a short distance west
of the tavern site; and here stood the old turn-
pike, shown in more than one engraving, and
abolished about the year 1866.

Those who wend their way along the White-
chapel Road towards the city will not find much that
is of interest artistically, so far at least as the build-
ings are concerned, until they approach Aldgate.
One is struck by two things, the prevalence of the
Jewish element, and the fact that there is little
or no sign of the destitution which we are apt
to associate with this part of London. On the
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the palmy days of coaching, just before the advent
of railways, Mrs. Anne Nelson, coach proprietor,
had held sway. It was said that she could make
up nearly two hundred beds at this hostelry, and
she lodged and boarded about three dozen of her
guards and coachmen. Most of her trade was to
Essex and Suffolk, but she also owned the Exeter
coach. She must have been landlady on the
memorable occasion when Mr. Pickwick arrived
in a cab after “two mile o’ danger at eightpence,”
and it was through this very archway that he and
his companions were driven by the elder Weller
when they started on their adventurous journey
to Ipswich. The house is now wholly destroyed,
and the yard built over. On the opposite side
of Aldgate High Street, a few seventeenth-
century houses still survive, chiefly butchers’ shops,
to remind us that even in Strype’s time (1720)
they plied their trade here, because, as he tells
us, this region lies *conveniently for driving and
carrying cattle from Rumford market.” There is
also an old tavern, with the sign of the Hoop and
Grapes, better known as Christopher Hill’s, with
handsomely carved door-posts of the same date as
the house.

A short distance to the south, along the
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Minories, close to the little church of Holy
Trinity, stood formerly one of the oldest public-
houses in London, by name the Sieve. The sign,
now extinet in London, had been associated with
it at any rate for considerably more than two
hundred years. Stow, the historian of I.ondon,
might almost have seen it, and we know that in
his boyhood he had often fetched milk from a
neighbouring farm, the site of which is still called
Goodman’s Fields. Underneath there were crypt-
like cellars, the material used in their construc-
tion being of the nature of chalk. It is possible
that originally they had some connection with
the adjoining convent of ‘sorores minores” or
nuns of St. Clare, for J. T. Smith, who in 1797
sketched the remains of the conventual buildings
then laid bare by a fire, and published the results
in his dncient Topography of London, tells us
that their walls were of chalk and Caen stone.
The parish of Holy Trinity is all included within
the ancient precincts of the convent, and in the
early days of the Reformation the gates were still
kept up. In the parish records, under date 1596,
there is mention of the appointment of a “vitler
to the parish.” He was also to have the custody
of the keys, and was to close the gate “in the
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sommer at night at tenne of the clocke, and in the
winter at nyne, and at noe other hour, except the
necessary and urgent occasions of the inhabitants
of the said parish doe require the contrarie.”
Later extracts speak of vestry meetings at the
Sieve ; for instance “about agreeing to pull down
the churchyard wall,” when matters were facilitated
by the expenditure of six shillings on refreshment.
A seventeenth-century trade token was issued
from this house, which for many years belonged
to the Byng family, but at length came into the
hands of the Metropolitan Railway Company, by
whom it was closed in 1886, but not entirely
destroyed until 1890. The writer made various
drawings of it, unfortunately all in monochrome,
which are now to be seen at the Bethnal Green
Museum.

The parish of Holy Trinity is now annexed to
that of St. Botolph, Aldgate, and the church,
within a few yards of the site of the old Sieve, is
used as a parish room. It is a plain little structure,
but has various interesting features and associa-
tions, which it is hardly the writer’s province to
note in this volume. He would mention, however,
that on this site was the church of the Minoresses,

which survived until the year 1706, when it was
11
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to a great extent rebuilt; but part of the north
wall remains, and in the early autumn of 1904,
a fire having laid bare a considerable space on
this side, exposed to view the whole of the
masonry, the most interesting portion being a
pointed window near the west end, which is much
mutilated but appears to be of the fourteenth or
fifteenth century.

Retracing our steps up the Minories to Aldgate
High Street, if we turn to the west, we shall still
find just within the original limits of the City,
that is beyond the site of Aldgate, the original
front of another well-known coaching inn—the
Saracen’s Head. The old yard remains, and on
the right of the entrance the name in 1887 was
still visible under the paint. The carved pilasters
to the left must have been the work of an artist.
The back of the inn was once galleried, and
coaches plied from here to Norwich as long ago
as 1681.



CHAPTER III
MORE CITY HOUSES

“ The old merchants—were a fine race. They knew their position
and built up to it.”—DisraEL1, Tancred.

WE find ourselves once more in the City, and will
finish our quest among the old houses, now few
and far between. Already they have almost dis
appeared from the main thoroughfares, being found
in quiet nooks and corners—relics of a past age,
which seem to have survived by escaping notice
rather than from any wish to preserve them. The
first of these to which we shall allude is, it is true,
close to the headquarters of the corn trade; but
having been in its time an important dwelling,
it still has a long forecourt, and remains somewhat
isolated. This stately old red brick mansion stands
back some distance on the west side of Mark
Lane, the entrance being through a very hand-

some doorway adorned with carvings of fruit and
83
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figures, which seems to belong to the end of the
seventeenth century. The house is four storied, with
engaged pilasters. On the keys of the windows
are what appear to be heraldic decorations in cut
brick, perhaps the crest of the first owner. Passing
through a passage, one finds at the back another
handsome doorway, while the present main en-
trance is on the left, in what must have been an
early addition to the main building. On the
ground floor in the hall is a leaden statue which
looks as if it came out of a garden. The principal
staircase is now here, the carved balusters of varied
pattern, with their supporting brackets, being
excellent specimens of early eighteenth-century
woodwork, and on the landing is a window with
a recessed seat charmingly inlaid.

This house, like another we shall mention, has
been called the “Spanish ambassador’s house,” but
in this case there is no authority (except tradition)
for the title. A glance at Ogilby and Morgan’s
plan of 1677 makes another suggestion more
likely. One there sees, just on this site, a court
marked “Navy Office,” and possibly the business
of that institution was carried on here for a time,
but to decide the matter further research would
be necessary.
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Forty years ago there were other fine old houses
in Mark Lane, standing in open courts and shaded by
trees, but all the rest have been destroyed to make
room for modern offices. During excavations on
the site of one in 1871 a Roman tesselated pave-
ment was found, together with fragments of Samian
ware.

Mention of the Navy Office reminds us that,
as we all know, its headquarters were for many
years in Seething Lane, hard by, and that Samuel
Pepys, who was Clerk of the Acts, lived in a house
adjoining and belonging to it. Here he wrote
almost the whole of his famous diary, and he was
finally laid to rest in the church of St. Olave, Hart
Street. In Seething Lane there is nothing now
that dates from his time; but Catherine Court,
which extends from there to Tower Hill, was built
in 1725, and has or has had handsome iron work at
the entrance, and other decorative features.

Not far off, one of the best examples of a well-to-
do citizen’s dwelling of the time of Charles II. is
to be found in that amphibious region between
Lower Thames Street and Little Tower Street,
where it has been used since 1859 for the Billings-
gate and Tower Ward school. It stands in a quiet
courtyard opening into Botolph Lane, which runs
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from Eastcheap to Lower Thames Street. A
second entrance is on the east side in Love Lane.
The front is plain but has an air of quiet dignity,
being built of well-laid and unusually small bricks
with stone dressings. It has a projecting cornice and
flat lead-covered roof. The doorway is approached
by a double flight of steps, beneath which an opening
has been left, once used as a dog kennel, to judge
from the little hollow for water scooped out in
front. Entering a hall, which extends right through
the house and is paved with alternate chequers of
black and white, one sees in front a massive staircase
with the date 1670 on the plaster above. Upstairs
the house has been mutilated, the greater part of
the landings on the first and second floors being
included in the schoolrooms, but fine chimney-
pieces of various dates, well-designed cornices and
plaster-work, evince the taste of former possessors.
Perhaps the most interesting part of the house is a
small room immediately to the left of the main
entrance. It is panelled throughout, and painted
from ceiling to floor with strange designs, among
which one can dimly discern the figures of Indians,
a rhinoceros, antelopes, palm trees, and other signs
of tropical life as it presented itself to the memory
or imagination of the artist. According to some,
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the history of the tobacco plant is here depicted,
but of this I could see no sign. The paintings
were in the first instance brightly coloured, the
prevailing tone is now a rich mahogany, due partly
to time and varnish, partly to the fact that years
ago damp Brazil nuts were stored in the basement,
which became heated and the fumes forced them-
selves into the room above. Fortunately we
know the name of the painter of this curious
series of pictures, one of the panels being signed
“R. Robinson, 1696.” Perhaps this was his master-
piece for it is the only record of him which has come
down to us. The other decorations of the room
are a carved mantel and a panelled cupboard.

The house is eloquently described in the pathetic
novel Mitre Court. Here Mr. Brisco suffered, and
Abigail Weir passed her innocent girlhood. Their
joys and sorrows are true—to human nature at
least; truer I fear than Mrs. Riddell’s assertion
that Sir Christopher Wren was its architect and
first inhabitant, though the design is not altogether
unworthy of him. At the time of writing, we
hear, alas! that it is doomed. Cannot something
be done to save it from destruction ?

A short distance to the north, on the east side of
Lime Street, was formerly a superb old mansion
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still standing in the year 1872, when the late M.
G. H. Birch and Mr. R. Phené Spiers made draw-
ings and measurements of it, which were afterwards
published in the form of a monograph. It appears
to have been built by Richard Langton about the
year 1600, the site having been occupied in the
fifteenth century by Lord Scrope of Bolton, and
bequeathed in 1501 to the Fishmongers’ Company.
In 1700-1 Sir Thomas Abney was Lord Mayor,
and there he kept his mayoralty. He was a great
supporter of St. Thomas’s Hospital, and will also
be remembered as the friend and patron of Dr. Isaac
Watts. Mantelpieces from thence are preserved
in the Guildhall Museum and at South Kensington.

Let us now turn our steps to the region of
Austin Friars, which still has, in what is now the
Dutch Church, a famous relic of monastic times ;
and, although within a few yards of the Stock
Exchange, has hardly yet altogether succumbed to
the assaults of the modern builder. The most
interesting houses, however, have now been de-
stroyed. Early in 1896 the house numbered 10
ceased to be. It was on the north side of the
old Friars’ Church, the date on a rain-pipe proved
that it had been there at least as early as the
year 1704. The porch was approached by steps ;
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ascending these one saw in front a spacious stair-
case, so typical of the period that it is here por-
trayed. This staircase was panelled throughout,
and was especially noticeable from its ceiling,
which was painted on plaster with allegorical
figures in the style of Sir James Thornhill. The
house No. 11 formed part of the same block of
buildings. While these were in process of destruc-
tion a Gothic arch was exposed to view, the upper
part of which had been in a room on the ground
floor of No. 10, incorporated in the east wall of the
house. From the character of the mouldings it
was held to date from the fifteenth century, having
no doubt belonged to the cloisters of the Augustine
Friars. Other medieval remains were found, and
a paper on the subject was read before the Loondon
and Middlesex Archaological Society.

Another house, which made more stir at the
time of its destruction, was No. 21 Austin Friars,
at the north-west corner of the precinct. It had
been built in the latter part of the seventeenth
century, and in the year 1705 came into the hands
of Herman Olmius, merchant, whose name occurs
in the first London directory, namely that for
1677, where he is described as ‘of Bishopsgate-
without, Angel Alley.” Descended from an

12
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ancient family of Arlon in the Duchy of Luxem-
bourg, he was naturalised, and having made a large
fortune died in 1718. His will showed that he
was a member not of the Dutch congregation in
Austin Friars, but of the French Church in
Threadneedle Street, to which he left £150 for the
benefit of the poor. His eldest son died Deputy-
Governor of the Bank of England, and his grand-
son, who for many years represented Colchester in
the House of Commons, was made an Irish peer
as Lord Waltham, but the title died out in the
next generation. The family possessed much land
in Essex, and had a famous country seat at Bore-
ham, now used as a convent. Herman Olmius
had left the Austin Friars property to the children
of his younger daughter, Margaret, married to
Adrian Lernoult, who predeceased him. In 1783
Hughes Minet came to live here, and in 1802 he
bought a share of the house from descendants of
Margaret Lernoult. He was of Huguenot ancestry,
and his family had long carried on a prosper-
ous business at Dover. The Minets occupied
No. 21 for many years; in 1838 Messrs. Thomas,
Son, and Lefevre were established here, the last
named being a brother of Lord Eversley. The
final owner was Mr. John Fleming, through whose
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kindness I had the privilege of exploring the whole
property on almost the last day that it remained
intact. In truth the house itself was by no means
a striking piece of architecture; the only decora-
tion externally was a carved hood to the doorway
forming the chief entrance from Austin Friars.
But having been from the beginning practically
unchanged, there were points about it worthy of
record. The counting-house on the ground floor
had a Purbeck marble mantelpiece, on the upper
moulding of which appeared in white marble the
Olmius arms with very elaborate quarterings,
representing the foreign families of Gerverdine,
Cappré, Drigue, and Reynstein. Mounting the
broad staircase which, like that at No. 10, had
carved and twisted balusters, one came upon the
dining-room and drawing-room on the first floor;
the former looked out on what had once been the
pleasant and ample garden of the Drapers’ Com-
pany. Retracing our steps to the hall we found
flanking a passage on the side opposite to the
counting-house a lofty kitchen still furnished with
smoke-jack, racks, and iron cauldron-holders, and
next to the range an oven lined with blue and
white tiles, perhaps a legacy of Herman Olmius.
Through a passage we passed to the outer offices,
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a brewery, washhouse, coachhouse, and stables ;
from these again there was access by a side entrance
into the garden—a quiet spot some half-acre in
extent, which no doubt had originally formed part
of the Friars’ grounds. It was connected by steps
with a narrow terrace running along the back of
the house. Here, in the summer of 1888, fig-trees
were still flourishing while the work of destruction
had already begun.

The boundary at the end of this garden was
formed by another very interesting house, No. 23
Great Winchester Street, improved out of exist-
ence in the year 1890. It was approached through
a paved yard with a lodge on each side of the
entrance, its chief external characteristics being a
somewhat high-pitched roof and wings projecting
forward. Inside, the chief reception-room was
finely proportioned, and the staircase had pleasant
architectural features. At the Dissolution the
house and grounds of the Augustine Friars had
been bestowed by Henry VIII. (for a consideration
no doubt) on William Paulet, first Marquis of
Winchester, who there built his town residence,
traces of which existed as late as the year 1844 ;
after this mansion Winchester Street was named.
From a date carved on a grotesque bracket, formerly
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to be seen at the north-east corner, it appears that
the street was constructed, partly at least, in the
year 1656, during the government of Cromwell.
Strype says that here was “a great messuage called
the Spanish Ambassador’s House, of late inhabited
by Sir James Houblon, Knight and Alderman, and
other fair houses.” Even down to our time it was
a remarkably picturesque specimen of an old
London street. Now nothing but the name is left
to mark its connection with antiquity.

Some little distance to the west of the district
we have just been exploring, at No. 4 Coleman
Street, near its junction with Loondon Wall, a house
was standing not many years ago which, like houses
innumerable, was reputed to have been a residence
of Oliver Cromwell. At first sight it had the
appearance of dating from the earlier part of the
eighteenth century. There was in it a good
eighteenth-century staircase with a skylight above,
and one of the rooms had a handsome mantelpiece,
also apparently Georgian. Another room on the
first floor was of more interest and importance.
Its panelling was of cedar, and the carved chimney-
piece was distinctly Jacobean in character. The
house, therefore, was much older than its general
character would have led one to suppose, or else
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it had been rebuilt early in the eighteenth century,
the chimney-piece and panelling being insertions
from an older building. It should be added that
the north end of Coleman Street is known to have
escaped the Great Fire. In 1891-92 “the cedar
room” was used as an office by Mr. H. S. Foster,
then Sheriff of Loondon. In 1896 the house was
pulled down by Messrs. Colls and Son, whose offices
adjoined, and in clearing away the foundations the
workmen came upon three ancient wells—two of
them went down twenty feet below the pavement
level. The following is quoted from an illustrated
article in the City Press for June 6, 1896 :— The
construction of these wells or elongated water-butts
was simplicity itself. Tubs or casks bound with
wooden hoops were sunk into the ground and
banked up with puddled clay to keep them water-
tight. The clay remains to this day, as also do the
wooden hoops (or did till very recently), but the
latter are as soft as touchwood.” The description
of these casks reminds one of casks somewhat
similar which have been found in Roman wells at
Silchester, and were exhibited in the rooms of the
Society of Antiquaries at Burlington House, but
examples more analogous, because of a similar date,
were brought to light not long ago in the course
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of alterations at the Bank of England. In the
wells beneath No. 4 Coleman Street were discovered
various pieces of pottery in remarkably good pre-
servation, and of types ranging from the beginning
of the fifteenth to the end of the seventeenth
century, which are now at the Guildhall Museum.
The soil in which these old wells were sunk was
dark and peaty; in all probability it once formed
part of the marsh land of Moorfields.

If the reader cares now to explore the lanes
about the neighbourhood of Cannon Street Rail-
way Station, it will be a pleasure to intro-
duce him to a few capital specimens of old city
architecture ; and by slightly prolonging our walk
we may pay a flying visit to No. 78 Cheapside
which is or has been known as the ¢ Old Mansion
House.” According to the usual accounts, it
obtained this name from the fact that Sir William
Turner, for whom it was built shortly after the
Great Fire, here kept his mayoralty in 1668-69. .
On an engraving of the house, dating apparently
from about 1825, it is described as the residence
of Mr. Tegg, the bookseller, the design being
attributed to Sir Christopher, but this seems to be
all the authority for the latter statement. Since
then the front has been modernised, but there is
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still an old staircase with massive newels and
balusters, dating no doubt from the seventeenth
century.

We will now make our way to Laurence
Poultney Hill, a narrow lane running south from
Cannon Street, a short distance to the east of the
railway station, and as we pause for a moment
we may note an inscription on the corner house
telling us that it leads to Duck’s Foot Lane and
to Suffolk Lane. Here one has a group of names
conveying an historic lesson, the name Poultney
indicates the former connection of Sir John de
Pulteney, four times Mayor of London, with the
parish, while Duck’s Foot Lane is undoubtedly a
corruption of ¢ Duxfield,” which in its turn is
equivalent to * Dukes Field” Lane, having reference
to Dukes of Suffolk and other dukes who in
succession held the property which had belonged
to the great citizen, de Pulteney. I shall revert
to this subject in another chapter when describing
a crypt destroyed here some years ago; meantime
we will glance at two or three merchants’ houses
still to be found in the neighbourhood.

A few yards down Laurence Poultney Hill, on
the west side, we shall see two beautiful doorways
of a style which was not unusual in the reign of
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Queen Anne, but these specimens are among the
best in existence. An important brick mansion,
built on' this site immediately after the Great Fire,
was in 1702 sold to Thomas Denning, citizen and
salter, and in the following year replaced by the
houses of which these doorways form part. Within
one of their shell-shaped canopies is the date of
erection, and on the other are the figures in relief
of two boys playing at marbles. This house has
a handsome staircase, shown through the open
door in our illustration. The Rev. H. B. Wilson,
D.D., who published in 1831 an account of the
parish of St. Laurence Poultney, and was a master
of Merchant Taylors’ School, resided here, the
house to the left being then occupied by Mr. Justin
Fitzgerald. The general effect of the two build-
ings, which form one architectural composition, is
spoiled by an ugly modern addition in front.
Immediately to the west or south-west is Suffolk
Lane, united to Laurence Poultney Hill by a short
roadway, and here No. 2, although outside there
is nothing particularly attractive about it, contains
in a ground-floor room, above the carved marble
mantelpiece and on the walls, decorative plaster
work of rather an elaborate kind. It is Italian

in style, and, although perhaps somewhat more
13
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modern, much resembles work executed by Italian
plasterers in 1725-26 at Ditchley in Oxfordshire,
the home of Viscount Dillon. Their names were
Giuseppe Artavi, Francesco Serena, and Francesco
Vassali, as shown in still-existing documents. In
the calendar of the Sherborne Muniments, under
date 1724, I find among Sir John Dutton’s accounts
the following entry :—*“To Sign® S. Vassalii for
making 14 busts and pedestals and busts in my
hall, 20li. 9s.” There are also at 2 Suffolk Lane
fine carved over-doors, and a pretty mantelpiece
upstairs with painted plaques in the style some-
what of Angelica Kauffmann.

A little farther west is College Hill, so named
because Richard Whittington, perhaps the best
remembered of all the mediaval Mayors of London,
here founded a College of St. Spirit and St. Mary.
He was buried in St. Michael’s Church hard by,
which was destroyed in the Great Fire, and rebuilt
by Sir Christopher Wren, whose handsome tower
still adorns the narrow thoroughfare. Here, also,
two gateways with sculptured pediments remain
which might have been designed by Wren. It
is worthy of remark that on College Hill was the
house and courtyard of ‘ Zimri,” the second and
last Duke of Buckingham of the Villiers family,
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who, as Strype tells us, lived in this street for
some time “upon a particular humour.” Hatton,
in his New View of London, 1708, says that this is
‘““a spacious building on the east side of College
Hill, now or late in the possession of Sir John
Lethieullier,” and as regards the position of the
house he is followed by Peter Cunningham in
his famous handbook of London. However, in
Ogilby and Morgan’s plan of 1677, and in the
plan attached to Strype’s edition of Stow, the
Duke’s dwelling is distinctly shown on the west
side of College Hill.

At present the gateways are incorporated in a
frontage which in old leases is always called “the
stable.” They form the means of access to two
houses under one roof; that to the south—No.
21 College Hill—being a capital specimen of a
merchant’s dwelling of the early part of the
eighteenth century, with a handsome staircase,
carved over-doors, and a finely-panelled room on
the first floor. They stand back some distance
from the street and have no particular relation
with the gateways, which are older in style.
Underneath both houses run very large cellars,
which are connected, and within memory there
was a small garden at the back of No. 21. In
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1746 this house belonged to Charles Lethieullier,
and was then tenanted by Sir Samuel Pennant,
the previous occupant having been Sir Robert
Godschall. The house afterwards passed by
marriage to the Hulses; for many years it has
been in the hands of the Wilde family, which has
produced two eminent judges—Lord Truro and
Lord Penzance.

Taking into consideration the fact of the pro-
perty having once belonged to the Lethieulliers,
from its ground plan, and from the style of the
gateways themselves, and of the building to which
they are attached, it seems not improbable that
here were the stables of Buckingham House with
a garden at the back. The house between the
gateways and the church was built for the Mercers’
School, being opened by the master and wardens
of the Company, June 6, 1832, and is said to
occupy the site of Whittington’s dwelling. The
school has of late years been removed to Barnard’s
Inn, which we shall presently visit. The building
on College Hill remains intact.

From the foot of College Hill, a short walk
along Upper Thames Street towards the west, and
then a turn to the river, would, not many years ago,
have taken us to Paul’s Pier, now no longer in exist-
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ence. Thence the view was one which we felt must
be recorded. In the immediate foreground stood
a curious riverside dwelling, squeezed in between
two great warehouses, its quaint bay window pro-
jecting over a wide doorway for the passage of
goods, which opened on to the Thames. The
house, containing two staircases and nineteen
rooms, was in 1891 still occupied as a private
residence, being let in apartments, and was one of
the last of its kind on the Thames bank in Liondon.
It was popularly supposed to be three hundred
years old, and to have been occupied by James I,
the building on an adjoining wharf being used as a
barrack for his soldiers, but from the architectural
point of view there was nothing to indicate that it
dated from before the end of the seventeenth or
beginning of the eighteenth century. East Paul’s
Wharf, immediately west of it, had been rebuilt in
1890, but the large warehouse adjoining this on the
west, known as Paul’s Wharf, and sometimes called
““the barracks,” looked as if it had been built in the
latter half of the eighteenth century. It ran back
some distance, having twelve gables alongside the
way to Paul's Pier. Shortly after the completion
of our drawing, a subterranean brick tunnel (partly
under the old house) was discovered. It began at
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long ago as 1476. From here a seventeenth-century
trade token was issued, reading as follows :—

Obverse.—AT - YE - NEXT - BOAT - BY - PAVLS =
A boat containing three men; over it, NEXT BoAT.

Reverse.—WHARFE - AT - PETERS - HILL - FOOT =
M. M. B.

Paul’s Pier was within a few minutes’ walk of
Dean’s Court, St. Paul’s Churchyard, where stands
the Deanery, the wall enclosing which is shown, in
one of our illustrations, on the left. In 1894 great
changes took place at this spot, which had before
been singularly quiet and old - fashioned. The
entrance from St. Paul’s Churchyard was until
then through an archway, under a house dating
from immediately after the Great Fire, which was
said traditionally to have been used by Wren as an
office after the rebuilding of St. Paul’s. This
house is shown in course of demolition, while the
ground on the right lies vacant, and we were thus
enabled to have a glimpse of the Cathedral, now
again quite concealed. The houses to the east,
facing St. Paul’s Churchyard, together with the
Vicar-General's office, and other houses on the
same side of Dean’s Court, were cleared away to
enable Messrs. Pawson and Co. to extend their
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warehouses, the Kcclesiastical Commissioners
having granted them a building lease for that
purpose.

Dean’s Court did not actually form part of the
precinct of Doctors’ Commons (finally cleared
away in 1867), but was associated with, and in its
immediate neighbourhood. Sam Weller in Pick-
wick thus humorously refers to the entrance:—
«St. Paul's Churchyard — low archway on the
carriage side, bookseller’s at one corner, hotel on
the other, and two porters in the middle as touts
for licences.” It was here that his father was
inveigled into matrimony. The Dean’s house, yet
standing, was built by Wren, after the Great Fire,
on the site of the former Deanery, but shorn of the
chief part of its garden stretching down to the
river, which was portioned off in building leases to
defray the cost of the new structure. The porch
is decorated with carved festoons of flowers in the
style of Grinling Gibbons. There is also a hand-
some staircase. Little more than a generation ago
rooks used to build on the plane trees in front.

Immediately opposite to the south end of
Dean’s Court, in Carter Lane, an old inn called
the Swan with two Necks, with a painted sign
against the wall in front, was standing until the
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end of 1894. It had been a coaching house, but of
modest dimensions, never a rival of the famous

Swan with two Necks in Lad Lane, once the head-

quarters of Mr. William Chaplin, perhaps the’
greatest coach proprietor that ever lived. Times

having changed, the building facing Carter Lane

became an ordinary public-house, while the galleried

portion at the back was occupied by persons in the

employment of Messrs. Pawson, the great ware-

housemen. This drawing was made in October

1894, when the place had just been vacated, having

been taken over by the Post Office authorities.

At that time the place was overrun by a legion of
half - starved rats, their supply of food having

suddenly been cut off by the exodus of the human

inhabitants. A Post Office Savings Bank was

shortly afterwards built on the site.

The origin of the sign has often been explained,
but as a rule inaccurately. Perhaps, for reference,
it will be useful to put the explanation in a concise
form. The swans on the upper reaches of the
Thames are owned respectively by the Crown and
the Dyers’ and Vintners’ Companies of the City of
London, and, according to ancient custom, the
representatives of these several owners make an

expedition each year up the river and mark the
14
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cygnets. The Royal mark used to consist of five
diamonds, the Dyers’ of four bars, and the Vintners’
of the chevron or letter V and two nicks. The
word “nicks” has been corrupted into necks, and
as the vintners were often tavern-keepers, the Swan
with two Necks became a common inn and tavern
sign. The swan marks just described continued
in use until the year 1878, when the swanherds
were prosecuted by the Society for the Prevention
of Cruelty to Animals, on the ground that they
inflicted unnecessary pain. Although the prosecu-
tion failed, the marks have since been simplified.
Other houses of entertainment more or less in
this part of the City, which have ceased to be, within
the memory of most of us, deserve a short obituary
notice before we conclude this chapter. The Green
Dragon Inn on St. Andrew’s Hill, must from the
first have been but a humble hostelry, but from the
back at least it was very picturesque, dating no
doubt from immediately after the Great Fire. It
was drawn by the writer in 1890, and pulled down
in 1896. St. Andrew’s Hill was first called Puddle
Hill, afterwards Puddle Dock Hill, from the
neighbouring wharf of that name. Shakespeare
owned property in Ireland Yard hard by, near the
Blackfriars’ theatre, with which he was associated.
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In Ireland Yard also remains of the famous house
of the Dominican Friars were lately brought to
light. A quaintly-named house was the Goose
and Gridiron in London House Yard, north of
St. Paul’s Cathedral, demolished about 1896.
Set into the wall in front was a stone tablet
having on it a bishop’s mitre, the initals TF, and
the date 1786, and on the top of a lamp pro-
jecting from below a first-floor window was a
veritable imitation of a goose on a gridiron, now
to be seen in the Guildhall Museum. Before the
Great Fire there was a house with the sign of
the mitre in London House Yard, perhaps on
this very spot, where in the year 1642 were to be
seen, among other curiosities “a choyce Egyptian
with hieroglyphicks, a Rémora, a Torpedo, the
Huge Thighbone of a Giant,” ete., as then adver-
tised; and again in 1644, Robert Hubert, alias
Forges, “ Gent. and sworn servant to his Majesty,”
exhibited here a museum of natural rarities. The
catalogue describes them as “collected by him
with great industrie, and thirty years’ travel into
foreign countries; daily to be seen at the place
called the Musick-house at the Mitre, near the
west end of St. Paul's Church.” Concerts were
doubtless among the attractions the house provided,
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by the site of the old London wall. A writer
in the Athenwum of May 20, 1876, thus writes
of it immediately before its demolition :—* Despite
the confusion, the dirt, and the decay, he who
stands in the yard of this ancient inn may get an
excellent idea of what it was like in the days of
its prosperity, when not only travellers in coach
or saddle rode into or out of the yard, but poor
players and mountebanks set up their stage for the
entertainment of spectators, who hung over the
galleries or looked. on from their rooms—a name
by which the boxes of a theatre were first kno vn.”

The house must have been rebuilt after the
Great Fire which raged over all this area. That
it existed before, is proved by the following odd
advertisement from the London Gazette for March
1672-78 :—*These are to give notice that Edward
Bartlet, Oxford Carrier, hath removed his Inn in
London from the Swan at Holborn Bridge to the
Oxford Arms in Warwick Lane, where he did Inn
before the Fire. His coaches and waggons going
forth on their usual days, Mondays, Wednesdays,
and Frydays. He hath also a hearse, and all things
convenient to carry a Corps to any part of England.’
In the palmy days of coaching, just before the
advent of railways, the Oxford Arms was occupied
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through later times, a calcined layer indicating the
effects of the Great Fire, while near the surface
objects of the eighteenth century are exposed to
view. Another place where ancient objects have
accumulated and been preserved is the bed of the
Thames, especially along the line of old London
Bridge. Various collections of such objects have
from time to time been made, the largest and
the most easily consulted is that at the Guild-
hall Museum ; but unfortunately, in spite of our
boasted business qualities, we are not a methodical
people, and there has been no systematic register
of excavations, or record of the finds. In the
most frequented parts of the old city the Roman
remains are sometimes covered with not less than
eighteen feet of debris or even more, but along
the line of the old wall, that is on the fringe of the
City, as a rule one finds the Roman ground level
considerably nearer the surface.

When, in the course of the year 1908, that
most impressive piece of architecture, Newgate
Prison, was levelled with the ground, one was not
surprised to hear that remains of the Roman wall
of L.ondon were being brought to light, for we
all knew that Dance’s building had displaced a
portion of that structure. It was the privilege
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of the writer to see these and other remains im-
mediately after they were laid bare, and he had
the melancholy satisfaction of visiting the site
frequently whilst they were being demolished, a
work which took several months. A piece of
Roman wall was discovered, not less than 68 feet
in length. It was 8} feet thick at the Roman
ground level, and the undeniably Roman masonry
rose to about an equal height, its top, nevertheless,
being below the level of Newgate Street. The
construction was like that of other portions of the
Roman wall which from time to time have been
examined. Immediately above the ground level
on the outside it had a plinth of ironstone, the wall
generally being faced on each side with roughly
squared stones of Kentish “rag.” The interior
was composed of fragments of ragstone carefully
packed, on to which mortar had been poured in
a liquid or semi-liquid state, and the wall was
bonded with courses of large flat tiles which ran
right through. Outside its facing was a good deal
dilapidated, but towards the east it was in remark-
ably good condition. Standing up boldly to a con-
siderable height above the virgin sand and gravel,
it formed a picturesque and interesting object, the

destruction of which one could not but lament.
15
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A detached fragment of masonry, near Newgate
Street, must have belonged to the Roman gateway
which, as archaologists now agree, once stood upon
this site. West of this was a portion of the
medieval gateway, which we now discover to have
been injured, not destroyed, in the Great Fire of
London. Remains of a broad ditch were also
discovered, together with fragments of Roman
pottery and other relics. Among them was part
of a small medieval statue held to represent St.
Christopher and the infant Christ, which has been
pieced together and is now in the Guildhall Museum.

Reference to the Roman wall reminds one that
originally the wall of London on this side, after
joining Ludgate to the south, ran straight down
from there to the Thames. In the year 1276 the
Friars-Preachers of the Dominican Order, com-
monly known as the Black Friars, who had found
the original establishment of the order in Holborn
too small for their requirements, secured a piece of
land to the south and south-west of Ludgate. It
was not, however, until 1278 that the necessary
license was obtained from the Bishop and Chapter
of London to erect a new church and buildings.
As to their site, Stow says that “ Gregory Rokesley,
mayor, and the barons of London granted and gave
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to Robert Kilwarbie, Archbishop of Canterbury,
two lanes or ways next the street of Baynard's
Castle, and also the tower of Mountfitchet to be
destroyed, on the which place the said Robert built
the late new church with the rest of the stones
that were left of the said tower.” It seems, there-
fore, that both these men helped the Friars largely ;
and in 1311 Edward II. by charter confirmed the
gift. The Friars were also allowed to pull down
the City wall and to take in all the land to the
west as far as the Fleet river, and it was intimated
to the Mayor that the new wall should be built at
the expense of the City. Thus we know rather
accurately when the Norman tower of Mountfitchet
and this part of the Roman wall were destroyed.
A glance at the map enables us to feel almost
certain that the latter ran down to or through the
T'imes printing office.

In May 1900, on the pulling down of No. 7
Ireland Yard, St. Andrew’s Hill, previously in the
occupation of Messrs. Reuben Lidstone and Son,
carpenters, attention was called to medizval arches
and vaulting, the upper part of which had been
always visible above ground. A painting, done at
this time, has been reproduced as one of our illus-
trations. When the modern buildings to the east
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were also removed, further remains came to light,
the whole being of considerable extent and
interest.

As we know from a Loseley manuscript, the
church of the Friars-Preachers was an important
structure, measuring in breadth 66 feet, and in
length 220 feet, dimensions rather greater than
those of St. Saviour’s, Southwark. Within the
precinct of Blackfriars, before the Reformation,
stood the Church of St. Anne, afterwards rebuilt
and finally destroyed in the Great Fire. The
remains which came to light in 1900, extending
almost from Friar Street on the east to St. Anne’s
churchyard on the west, were about 27 feet wide
by 40 feet, but the building had originally been
longer. The space had been divided into two
alleys of equal dimensions (each being between
13 and 14 feet wide) by a row of Purbeck marble
shafts, four in number, which supported the stone
vaulting of the roof. One of these shafts remained
in situ, and still carried a cross rib springing at the
other end from a corbel attached to the north wall.
The stone of this rib had been reddened by the
action of fire. The base of the shaft was 9 feet
below the present ground level, the total height from
the base to the crown of the arch being 16 feet.
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The most perfect piece of the north wall was that
immediately west of the corbel supporting the
cross rib. It showed the remains of a wall arch,
enclosing and partly hiding the head of a pointed
window still fairly perfect, which is shown in our
illustration. In the same wall, farther east, were
traces of a similar window. In the ground ex-
cavated within the area of the building, many
skulls and other human remains were found,
huddled together without order, as if they had
been transplanted from some other burial - place.
It is clear that the structure of which these remains
formed part had not been originally connected
with the parish church of St. Anne, Blackfriars,
the site of this, as can be seen in Ogilby and
Morgan’s map of 1677, having been in the adjoin-
ing burial-ground. Moreover, it was never claimed
for that church that it had been founded before
the fourteenth century at the earliest. On the
other hand, the style of the remains here discovered
exactly fits in with the date of the foundation of
the House of Friars-Preachers; we may therefore
be sure that they belonged to that house. They
were orientated, but whether they formed part of
the Friars’ church or not is at present an open
question. Further information on the subject may
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be found in a short article contributed by the
writer in 1901 to the first part of the London
Topographical Society’s Annual Record.

Ireland Yard is approached from Water Lane
on the west, through Play House Yard and Glass
House Yard, each full of interesting associations,
although these associations began years after the
passing away of the Friars. Allusion has been
made on a previous page to Shakespeare’s house
in Ireland Yard. In the deed of conveyance to
the poet it is described as “abutting upon a street
leading down to Puddle Wharf, and now or late in
the tenure or occupacon of one William Ireland.”

As we all of us know, London in the Middle
Ages was most richly supplied with ecclesiastical
buildings.  Fitzstephen, a monk who wrote in
the reign of Henry II., tells us that here and in
the suburbs were thirteen churches attached to
convents, and the great number of a hundred and
thirty-six parochial ones. The glory of the con-
ventual establishment passed away at the Reforma-
tion, but the parish churches mostly survived
without much structural change, except what
became necessary through lapse of time, until in
the Great Fire of 1666 no less than eighty-six of
them were destroyed or badly injured.
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A dire catastrophe is apt to call forth the
energies of the master mind that can grapple with
it. This was the case when Christopher Wren,
at that time hardly a professional architect, turned
his attention to the City. In spite of his apparent
inexperience, he had already made a few fine
designs for buildings, for instance that of the
chapel of Pembroke College, Cambridge, and the
Sheldonian Theatre, Oxford, and he had a con-
siderable reputation as a man of science. Archi-
tects were then few and far between, and so it
came about that to him was assigned the task
of rebuilding or repairing not only St. Paul’s
Cathedral, but if one includes St. Mary Woolnoth
and St. Sepulchre (both only repaired) no fewer
than fifty-two City churches. In carrying out his
stupendous undertaking, Wren was cramped and
thwarted by many difficulties, not the least of
these being a want of funds ; for although on a few
important churches, notably on St. Mary-le-Bow,
St. Bride’s, Fleet Street, Christ Church, Newgate
Street, and St. Lawrence Jewry, considerable sums
were spent, as a rule he was compelled to practise
strict economy. It was no doubt partly on this
account that wherever the charred walls, or merely
the foundations, of a medieval church remained in
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a solid condition they were worked into his build-
ing. The ground plans of Wren’s churches are
often, one might say usually, a good deal out of
the square. In such cases he may now and then
be merely accommodating himself to the street
line, thus including as much as possible within the
prescribed area; but as a rule he is utilising old
foundations, for, whereas it would be in the spirit
of Renaissance architecture to plan with something
approaching to mathematical accuracy, in Gothic
work little attention was paid to the laying-out of
exact parallelograms.

For a century, more or less, all Wren’s City
churches remained intact, except St. Mary Wool-
noth, which was rebuilt by Nicholas Hawksmoor
in 1716, its repair having proved a failure. The
first to go was St. Christopher-le-Stocks, taken
down when the Bank of England was enlarged in
1781. This was followed by St. Michael, Crooked
Lane, destroyed to make room for the approaches
of the present London Bridge. St. Bartholomew,
by the Exchange, was replaced by the present Sun
Fire Office in 1841, and soon afterwards St. Benet
Fink disappeared on the rebuilding of the Royal
Exchange. But it was the Union of City Benefices
Act, passed in 1858 and 1859, which has facilitated
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the destruction of Wren's churches, eighteen of
which have now succumbed. This, whatever one’s
feelings may be about the necessity of providing
churches elsewhere, cannot but be a matter of
regret to all lovers of fine architecture.

The Church of St. Michael, in Wood Street, a
little to the north of Cheapside, and on its south
side touching a passage called Huggin Lane, built,
or rather very much repaired and remodelled, by
Sir Christopher in 1675, at a cost of only a little
over £2550, was pulled down under the provisions
of this Act in 1897, and the parish, together with
the associated parish of St. Mary Staining, united
with that of St. Alban, Wood Street. It was one
of the cheapest of Wren's churches and also one
of the simplest. In this particular instance one
might admit that the interest lay not so much in
his building as in the older work which it obscured.
Externally, the east end was the most conspicuous
portion. The front was faced with Portland stone,
and decorated by four Ionic pilasters carrying a
cornice and pediment. Between these were three
round-headed windows. A clock jutting out from
the pediment was added in the nineteenth century,
and Wren’s lantern on the tower had been replaced

by a dull-looking octagonal spire. The interior of
16
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St. Michael’s Church was very plain, being more
or less an unbroken parallelogram, although not
absolutely so, as the two side walls widened out
towards the east end, which was also placed askew.
The tower, occupying the south-west corner,
projected slightly at the west end. Its ground
stage was blocked up so as to form an apartment
used as a vestry.

Of the Gothic building which had stood on this
site, the earliest direct notice with which the writer
is acquainted appears in the will of Geoffrey de
Ambresbure, goldsmith, enrolled in the Court of
Husting, and calendared by Dr. Sharpe under the
date 1272-73, whereby the said Geoffrey assigns
houses, gardens, and rents, in this parish and in
that of St. Giles, Cripplegate, for the purpose of
founding a chantry. In all probability, however,
as was the case with most other City churches, the
date of foundation was very much earlier. But what-
ever the age of the original church of St. Michael,
Wood Street, the first documentary evidence
forthcoming, which helps us to a knowledge of the
medizeval structure, belongs to the latter part of
of the fourteenth century, and this merely relates
to a vestry on the north side which disappeared
leaving no trace behind. More important is a later
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document to which we will now briefly refer. In
the year 1422, John Broun, citizen and saddler,
drew up his will (not proved until 1429-30) in
which, while disposing of the rest of his property
in various ways, he made the following bequest :—
“Item, I leave to Master Robert Fitzhugh rector
of the church of St. Michael in Hoggenlane and
to the custodians of the goods and work of this
church, and to four parishioners of this church for
the time being, all that vacant piece of ground,
with its appurtenances belonging to me, in the
parish of St. Michael, between the said church of
St. Michael on the east, and the house of John
Biernes goldsmith and of Benedicta his wife on
the west side, and the house of the rector and the
burial-ground of the said church on the north side,
and the lane called Hoggenlane on the south
side; on which piece of vacant ground stood a
house lately acquired by me from Agnes Pychard
and others, which was then lately built and which I
have of late totally destroyed for the purpose of the
enlargement of the said church towards the west and
the adding of a belfry. Further as a contribution
towards the cost of the said enlargement I leave
the sum of ten pounds sterling and the sixteen
pounds which Thomas Lovell gentleman owes me.”
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Turning now to the medizval remains at the
church ; portions of these had always been more
or less apparent. Thus a water-colour drawing,
done after the completion of the modern spire,
shows a pointed window with fifteenth-century
tracery on the south side of the tower, latterly
blocked up as to the upper part, while the lower
portion was converted into what looked like an
ordinary square window, serving to light the
vestry, which, as we have seen, occupied the ground
floor of the tower. Again, the top of the pointed
north tower-arch was visible from the gallery in
the tower, above the vestry, and there was a little
turret staircase at the north-west angle of the
tower, entered from the nave through a doorway
with fifteenth-century mouldings. On passing
through this doorway, and ascending by the spiral
staircase, one found that the medieval masonry
ended within three or four feet of the belfry floor
level, and the building was carried up in brick,
evidently Wren’s addition after the Fire. In his
brick superstructure he had placed pointed windows,
perhaps rough imitations of those which had existed
before. The medieval or lower part of the stair-
case had been lighted by three little quatrefoil
windows opening into the church.
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When the building was pulled down it was
seen that the lower portion of the tower was
wholly Gothic. The most perfect piece was the
engaged arch on the western side of the tower.
The north and south arches were also perfect
enough to do their work, the latter containing the
square vestry window which filled the lower part
of the space formerly occupied by the pointed
window. The eastern arch appeared, as far as
one could judge, to have been entirely blocked by
Wren, but in 1831 the upper part of the wall
had been opened into the church and a small
gallery formed over the vestry, a round-headed arch
being inserted. As could be seen by their general
character and by their mouldings, these Gothic
remains were of the early fifteenth century; thus
they coincided with the documentary evidence of
the building of the tower.

Much of Wren's south and east walls were
formed of re-used stone from the old church.
‘There was ancient masonry at the east end of the
south wall up to 2 or 3 feet above the wainscoting,
which was about 8 feet high. Embedded in the
south wall near the tower, among other fragments
not in their original positions, was an oblong piece
of stone of considerable size with three quatrefoil
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1554. He was brother of Sir Richard, uncle of
Sir Thomas, and ancestor of the Leveson Gowers
of Titsey. No vault remained on either side of
this entrance. Inside the church, traces of at
least two buried floors came to light, with fine
encaustic tiles in situ. These are mostly, it is
believed, in the Guildhall Museum.

Two more of Wren’s churches in the City have
been pulled down since the writer first began to
make a study of its architecture. The first to
succumb, and from the artist’s point of view by
far the most picturesque and interesting, was that
of All Hallows the Great in Upper Thames Street,
torn down in 1894, the site being bought by a
neighbouring brewery. Beyond the facts that the
patronage of the living had been in the hands of
the Le Despencers, and afterwards came to Richard
Nevil, Earl of Warwick, “the king-maker,” not
much is known of the early history of All Hallows.
It is said by Stow to have been called ¢ Alhallowes
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